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CORPORATE
PROFILE

Broadway Industrial Group Limited (“Broadway” or the “Company”) is a leading manufacturer 
of precision-machined components and provider of engineered Foam Plastic Solutions, offering an 
excellent mix of cost-efficient manufacturing facilities, state-of-the-art technologies, experienced 
management teams and innovative solutions to a global customer base.

Founded in 1969 and listed on the SGX Mainboard in 1994, 
Broadway and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) comprises 
over 15 manufacturing facilities across China, Thailand and 
the USA. The Group currently employs about 9,000 people 
worldwide.

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Compart Asia Pte Ltd, 
Broadway is one of the top manufacturers of actuator arms 
and related assembled parts for the global Hard Disk Drive 
(“HDD”) industry. Other than the HDD industry, Compart 
also supplies precision components to the semiconductor, 
automotive and other industries.

With over 40 years of track record, Broadway is also a leading-
edge producer of foam solutions for protective packaging, 
insulation, automotive, medical and other applications. 
With an emphasis on innovation, quality and reliability, 
Broadway’s Foam Plastics segment has developed a strong 
pool of global customers in the consumer electronics, 
automotive, construction, shipbuilding and other emerging 
industries.

For more information, please visit our website at  
www.bw-grp.com.

SALES BREAKDOWN  
AVERAGED ACROSS LAST 5 YEARS

CORE EBITDA
AVERAGED ACROSS LAST 5 YEARS

Precision Components 71%

Foam Plastics 29%

Precision Components 64%

Foam Plastics 36%

Protective 
Packaging

Hard Disk Drive 
(Actuator Arm & 

Assembly)

Insulation

(Foam Plastics Solutions) (Precision Components)

Products Precision  
Engineering  

Solutions
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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

GENERAL REVIEW
The financial year ended 31 December 2015 (FY 2015) 

was another difficult and challenging one. Turnover for 

the group declined by 6.3% compared to the previous FY 

2014. However, owing to actions taken to restructure and 

optimize our operations, and manage our costs and cash 

flows better, the decline in gross profit was only 2.5%, while 

core EBITDA dropped only 4.2% in FY 2015. Our gross 

profit margin, in fact, inched up a little to 10.1%, compared 

to FY 2014.

Unfortunately, the operational results were negatively 

impacted by the unrealised marked-to-market fair value 

losses of financial derivatives of $2.8 million due to the 

unforeseen devaluation of the RMB against the USD in the 

2nd half of FY 2015. Given the tough operating environment 

in the HDD industry and the projected gradual decline of 

HDD volumes going forward, the Board decided to write-off 

fully the goodwill carried in the books amounting to $67.3 

million arising from the acquisition of the balance 44.15% 

shareholding in Compart Asia Pte Ltd by the Company in 

2007, and derecognised deferred tax assets of about $12.3 

million carried in the books of Compart. Although these 

write-offs are non-cash in nature, it has resulted in a decline 

in the Net Asset Value per share of the Group from 50.3 

cents to 34.5 cents.

Management continued to improve the financial 

management of the Group, and this is evidenced by 

stronger cash flows and balance sheet at the end of 

the financial year. Although the financial situation has 

improved, the Board has decided not to recommend any 

dividend payment yet in order to conserve cash and to 

further strengthen our balance sheet.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS
The global economic outlook continues to look gloomy 

as oil prices hit a new low of just below US$30/barrel not 

too long ago, although it has recovered since to above 

US$40/barrel. However, as there seems to be no pact by 

. . .  we will continue to explore new business opportunities to 
unlock shareholder value.

OPEC to curtail supply just yet, it is uncertain as to whether 

this oil price can be sustained in the medium term. Global 

growth appears to be stalling in most regions and the 

central banks are continuing their efforts to stimulate 

demand using monetary easing and interest rates 

management.

In the USA, given the better performance of the American 

economy late last year, the US Federal Reserve decided 

to hike the Fed Funds rate by 0.25%, leading to a rapid 

strengthening of the USD against most other currencies, 

including the RMB, the Euro and the SGD. This event was 

followed soon after by an unforeseen crash of the financial 

markets early this year. As a result, the US Federal Reserve 

has decided to leave the Fed Funds rate unchanged in 

their recent March meeting. Hopefully, this will lead to 

some stability in the financial and currency markets in the 

near to mid-term.

In Europe, the European Central Bank has continued with 

their quantitative easing, and even introduced negative 

interest rates for deposits of banks with the central bank 

in an attempt to encourage banks to lend and stimulate 

the economy. Despite their efforts, growth in the Euro zone 

remains uncertain, although the Euro has remained fairly 

stable.

In China, economic growth has slowed to about 6.5%. 

The Chinese government has pulled out all the stops to 

maintain this level of growth, which is deemed sustainable. 

In order to maintain social and political stability, the 

Chinese government will continue to raise wages, putting 

pressure on manufacturing operations that are slow to 

rationalize and move to higher value added products and 

more capital intensive processes. The recent US Federal 

Reserve Bank’s decision to maintain the Fed Funds rate at 

0.25% – 0.5% range has resulted in a stronger RMB. The 

Chinese Government has continued to openly maintain 

its policy of keeping the RMB exchange rate stable with 

market intervention to keep out speculators from time to 

time.
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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

CHALLENGES FOR THE GROUP
Given the current world economic scenario going forward, 

our Group will continue to confront many of the same 

challenges we faced in the previous year. We will continue 

with our efforts to transform our operations into more 

innovation driven, leaner and higher value added ones. We 

will continue to rationalize our operations to make it more 

efficient and productive, and to optimize and strengthen 

our cash flows, reduce our gearing and strengthen our 

balance sheet. We added some new talent last year to help 

us to achieve these objectives. At the same time, we will 

continue to explore new business opportunities to unlock 

shareholder value.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our 

management and staff for working hard to help achieve 

these results in FY 2015 despite very challenging and 

difficult economic and business conditions. Our turnaround 

plans are still works in progress and there is still work cut 

out for them this year. At the same time, let me also express 

our gratitude to our loyal customers, vendors, bankers and 

business partners for their continued support.

In FY 2015, the Board appointed the CEO, Mr Lee Wai 

Leong (Jeremy) as an Executive Director of the Board, and 

Miss Wong Yi Jia as a Director of the Board and a member 

of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees. She 

was previously an Alternate Director to Mr Wong Sheung 

Sze, who passed away in March 2015. We welcome 

Mr Jeremy Lee and Miss Wong to the Board and look 

forward to their continued contributions to the Group. I 

would also like to thank all my other fellow Board members 

for their contributions and look forward to their continued 

support and counsel as we persevere and work towards our 

corporate vision and goals for FY 2016.

Finally, let me also thank all shareholders for their support 

over the years.

MR LEW SYN PAU
Chairman and Independent Director

Broadway Industrial Group Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND  
CEO’S STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

GROUP OVERVIEW
FY2015 continued to be a turbulent year for the Group 
due to the uncertainty in the global economy. The Group 
navigated the choppy waters with determined discipline in 
cost and cash management, critical review and remodelling 
of operations to improve efficiency and persistent forays 
for new business opportunities.

Some of our initiatives started to bear fruit and we were 
able to maintain our gross profit and improve our gross 
profit margin. Revenue dropped 6.3% year-on-year from 
S$694.5 million in FY2014 to S$650.7 million in FY2015 but 
our gross profit remained at S$65.8 million in FY2015 versus 
S$67.5 million in FY2014 (a slight decrease of 2.5% year-on-
year) and our gross profit margin improved from 9.7% in 
FY2014 to 10.1% in FY2015. We were also able to maintain 
core earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (Core EBITDA) at S$50.4 million in FY2015, a 
comparatively lesser decrease of 4.2% from S$52.6 million 
in FY2014.

Notwithstanding the overall improvement in operational 
performance, the Group’s financials were adversely 
affected by the negative impact of one-off non-cash write-
offs relating mainly to the impairment of goodwill and 
derecognition of deferred tax assets in the HDD segment. 
These write-offs are non-cash and non-operational items 
which have negatively affected our reported earnings.

The Group’s loss before income tax (LBT) was S$75.8 million 
in FY2015 compared with LBT of S$2.7 

million in FY2014. But the LBT does 
not reflect the true operating 

position of the Group as core 

profit before tax (core PBT) (ie. PBT excluding write-offs) 
was generally maintained at S$4.5 million in FY2015 versus 
core PBT of S$4.7 million in FY2014.

Our focus on financial discipline also resulted in improved 
free cash flow of S$37.5 million for FY2015, compared to 
free cash flow of S$35.6 million for FY2014. The Group’s 
net gearing ratio was also generally maintained at 45.2% 
in FY2015 compared to 43.3% in FY2014 and our total 
liabilities were reduced from S$325.5 million in FY2014 to 
S$293.7 million in FY2015.

HARD DISK DRIVE (HDD) SEGMENT
Our HDD segment recorded a revenue decrease of 9.7% 
year-on-year from S$396.2 million for FY2014 to S$357.9 
million for FY2015. Due to the continued losses suffered 
by the HDD segment, the management decided to write 
off goodwill amounting to S$67.3 million which arose from 
the acquisition of 44.15% interest in Compart Asia Pte Ltd 
in October 2007.

The HDD industry is a mature market with an anticipated 
decreasing annual volume trend.

Trendfocus’ Q4 2015 Quarterly Update dated 3 February 
2016 and its Long Term Forecast dated 16 February 2016 
reported that the HDD industry recorded a year-on-year 
contraction of 17% to 469 million units shipped in FY2015. 
Specifically, 190.8 million Mobile HDD units and 123.7 
million Desktop HDD units were shipped in 2015, 24% 
and 25% year-on-year reduction respectively. 84.9 million 
Consumer HDD units were shipped in 2015, up 9% year-on-
year and 69.3 million Enterprise HDD units were shipped in 
2015, up marginally from 2014.

According to Trendfocus, the downward trend is expected 
to remain throughout the first half of 2016. Trendfocus 
also projected a declining 5 year outlook or negative 4.8% 
CAGR (Compound Annual Growth Rate) for HDD due to 
the weakening of the PC market in both mobile (notebook) 
and desktop form factors, as well as the penetration of 
SSDs largely in notebook PCs.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND  
CEO’S STATEMENT

Our increased business development efforts to mitigate 
China’s economic slowdown are seeing results with the 
addition of new customers and product offerings. The 
team continues its global exploration of suitable partners, 
customers and products that complement and synergise 
with our current business and operation model. We will 
further intensify the FPS business development and 
operational improvement effort to stay resilient despite 
uncertainty in China’s economic growth.

MAINTAINING THE COURSE FOR SUSTAINABILITY AND 
GROWTH
The Group will continue its course to transform its various 
operations from labour intensive to skill intensive, and from 
capital intensive to technology intensive by embarking 
on initiatives for operation realignment and investment in 
automation and new technology. The Group is committed 
to focus on innovation as a driver for growth and to 
transform strategies into possibilities.

We shall also continue to position the Group for vertical 
growth in the value chain of existing businesses and leverage 
on our core competencies for horizontal growth to enhance 
the Group’s value creation. Coupled with our diligence in 
cost and cash management, expansion and diversification 
into new markets and operation enhancements, the Group 
is poised to surmount the challenges posed by uncertainty 
in the global economy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
I would like to thank fellow members of the Board for your 
continued support and guidance during the year. I am also 
grateful to the Corporate, HDD, PES and FPS teams for 
their commitment, loyalty and dedication, especially during 
these challenging times. Last but not least, my sincere 
appreciation to each of our business partners, shareholders 
and bankers for their continued support.

MR LEE WAI LEONG (JEREMY)
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Broadway Industrial Group Limited

Nevertheless, the consolidated HDD industry, characterised 
by high volume and few key players, provides sufficient 
opportunity for the Group to remain financially viable with 
the right cost model. The management will double its effort 
to expedite further cost optimization and streamlining of 
the HDD operations.

PRECISION ENGINEERING SOLUTION (PES) SEGMENT
The PES segment is holding well and recorded year-on-
year revenue growth of 9.4% in FY2015 from S$100.3 million 
to S$109.8 million.

According to SEMI, which tracks semiconductor wafer fab 
equipment spending, in an article dated 10 March 2016, 
front-end fab equipment spending (including new, used, 
and in-house) is projected to increase 3.7 % in 2016 (to 
US$37.2 billion) and another 13 % in 2017 (to US$42.1 
billion). Fab equipment spending is expected to pick 
up slowly in the first half of 2016, and accelerate into the 
second half when momentum starts to build for 2017, with 
a return to double-digit growth rates.

The PES segment shall continue to focus on manufacturing 
semiconductor wafer fab gas delivery systems while 
expanding on its current activities from only machining 
precision components to sub-assembly, thereby increasing 
its value-add activities and extending its value chain.

Going forward, we will further streamline the HDD and PES 
segments’ precision machining processes and resources 
deployment to optimized operational efficiency.

FOAM PLASTICS SOLUTION (FPS) SEGMENT
As expected, the Group’s FPS business continues to be 
affected by the performance of China’s economy. The drop 
in revenue experienced by the FPS segment in FY2015 was 
largely due to the softening of China’s economy.

The FPS segment posted a year-on-year revenue reduction 
of 7.6% from S$198.0 million in FY2014 to S$183.0 million 
in FY2015.

. . .  The Group is committed to focus on innovation as a driver for 
growth and to transform strategies into possibilities. 
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

MR LEW SYN PAU
Chairman and Independent Director, 62
Mr Lew was appointed as an independent Director on  
2 November 2011 and was re-elected on 23 April 2014. He 
is currently the Non-Executive Chairman of SUTL Enterprise 
Limited and also sits on the boards of listed companies Food 
Empire Holdings Limited, Golden Agri-Resources Limited, 
Golden Energy and Resources Ltd and Poh Tiong Choon 
Logistics Limited. His prior work experience included being 
General Manager and Senior Country Officer of Banque 
Indosuez, Singapore Branch, Executive Director of NTUC 
Fairprice Co-operative Limited, Managing Director of NTUC 
Comfort Co-operative Limited and Assistant Secretary-
General of NTUC. A Singapore Government Scholar, Mr 
Lew began his career with the Singapore Government 
Administrative Service. He holds a Masters in Engineering 
from Cambridge University, UK, and a Masters in Business 
Administration from Stanford University, USA. He was a 
Member of Parliament from 1988 to 2001.

MR LEE WAI LEONG (JEREMY)
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, 57
Mr Lee was appointed as an Executive Director of the Board 
on 14 January 2015. He joined the Group as Chief Strategy 
Officer in May 2009. He was subsequently promoted 
to Acting Chief Executive Officer in August 2013 and 
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2014.  
Mr Lee is responsible for providing leadership in development 
of the strategic plan and management of resources to 
advance the Company’s mission and objectives. He has 
more than 30 years of experience in business management 
and manufacturing operations in electronics assembly and 
precision engineering industries. Mr Lee holds a Master of 
Business Administration from Golden Gate University, USA. 
He was re-elected as a Director on 29 April 2015.

MR NG AH HOY
Executive Director, 65
Mr Ng has more than 30 years of management experience 
in the electronics and manufacturing industry. He 
relinquished his duties as Senior Managing Director of the 
Group’s Foam Plastics division last year and is currently 
appointed Chief Strategy Officer of the Company, 
responsible for planning and development of the Group’s 
strategic direction and activities. Prior to joining the Group 
in 1990, Mr Ng headed the manufacturing operations of 
several multi-national corporations. Mr Ng graduated from 
the University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Engineering 
Degree in Mechanical Engineering. Mr Ng was appointed 
as an Executive Director since 24 October 1994 and was 
last re-elected on 29 April 2015.

MR LEE CHOW SOON
Independent Director, 76
Mr Lee joined the Board on 24 October 1994 and was 
last re-appointed on 29 April 2015. Mr Lee has been 
practicing as an Advocate and Solicitor and is currently 
a senior partner of Messrs Tan Lee & Partners, a firm of 
advocates and solicitors. He holds a Degree in Law from 
the University of London and an Honours Degree in Law 
from the University of Singapore. Mr Lee is a Justice of the 
Peace. He was awarded PBM in 1998 and BBM in 2006.

MR EU YEE MING RICHARD
Independent Director, 68
Mr Eu joined the Board on 15 September 2005 and was 
last re-elected on 29 April 2013. He is currently the Group 
Chief Executive Officer of SGX Mainboard listed Eu Yan 
Sang International Ltd. Mr Eu is also actively involved in 
the community projects and non-profit organizations such 
as the SIM University (UniSIM) and the National Heritage 
Board. He graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Law from 
the London University, UK.

MR LEE PO LO @ LEE KHONG KEE
Non-Executive Director, 64
Mr Lee served as Executive Director of the Group’s Foam 
Plastic segment since his appointment on 25 July 1994 
and was re-designated as a Non-Executive Director on 16 
March 2012. Mr Lee continued as strategic advisor to the 
Foam Plastics segment till his retirement in 2014. During his 
more than 30 years tenure, he led the segment’s business 
development and was instrumental in building an extensive 
international customer base for the Foam Plastics business. 
Mr Lee is a Colombo Plan Scholar and graduated from 
the University of Auckland, New Zealand, with an Honours 
Degree in Mechanical Engineering. He also holds a Masters 
Degree in industrial Engineering and a Masters Degree 
in Business Administration from the National University of 
Singapore. He is a registered professional engineer with 
the Singapore Professional Engineer Board. He was last re-
elected as a Director on 29 April 2013.

MS WONG YI JIA
Non-Executive Director, 32
Ms Wong Yi Jia was appointed as a Non-Executive Director 
on 30 March 2015 and was re-elected on 29 April 2015.  
Ms Wong was the Corporate Legal Counsel of the Group from 
July 2012 to March 2015, and was also the Joint Company 
Secretary of the Company. She is currently a practicing lawyer 
at Allen & Gledhill LLP. Ms Wong graduated from King’s 
College London with a Bachelor of Laws degree and holds a 
Master of Laws degree from University College London.
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

TURNOVER (S$’ MIL)

541.5
615.7 644.7

694.5
650.7

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

NAV PER SHARE (S CENTS)

50.78 50.16
52.77

50.34

34.53

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

EPS (S CENTS)

(1.74)

5.90

0.39 0.04 (18.57)

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

CORE EBITDA (S$’ MIL) Excluding net forex gain/
losses and all exceptional items

46.2

37.1

49.5 52.6 50.4

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

8.5%

6.0%

7.7% 7.6% 7.7%

CORE PATMI (S$’ MIL) Excluding net forex gain/
losses and all exceptional items

8.8

(5.8) (5.7)

7.5

5.3

1.6%
1.1%

-0.9%

0.8%

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

-0.9%

GROSS PROFIT (S$’ MIL)

59.5

50.8
56.4

67.5 65.8

11.0

8.7
9.7

8.2

10.1

FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15
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Broadway Industrial Group Limited (the “Company”) continues to uphold a high standard of corporate governance 
within the Group. In its support of the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”), as annexed to the Listing 
Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
has established, as far as practicable, various self-regulating and monitoring mechanisms for the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) to ensure that effective corporate governance is practised in line with the principles of 
the Code. This report outlines the Group’s corporate governance practices with specific references to the Code.

Other than deviations explained below, the Group has complied with the principles and guidelines of the Code. 
There are other sections in the Group’s Annual Report that are relevant to the discussion of corporate governance, 
hence this report should be read together with those sections.

Principle 1
Board’s Conduct of Its Affairs

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the Group. Key functions of the Board include 
the setting of the Group’s strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major investments and funding decisions. The 
Board also identifies principal risks of the Group’s business, ensures the implementation of appropriate systems to 
manage these risks and reviews the financial performance of the Group regularly.

The Board is supported in its tasks by Board Committees that have been established to assist in the execution 
of its responsibilities, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. The 
composition and terms of reference of each Committee are described in this report.

When new Directors are appointed to the Board, they will be provided a formal letter setting out the Director’s 
duties, obligations and responsibilities. Newly appointed Directors attend orientation programmes where they are 
briefed on the Group’s business activities, its strategic direction and regulatory environment in which the Group 
operates. In addition, newly appointed Directors are also introduced to the senior management team and invited 
to tour the Group’s manufacturing facilities.

On an ongoing basis, the Board is updated on new laws that may affect the Group’s business and changes in 
regulatory requirements and financial reporting standards. Directors and senior executives are encouraged to 
undergo relevant training to enhance their skills and knowledge, particularly on new laws and regulations affecting 
the Group’s operations and governance practices. Details of seminars offered by third party institutions are regularly 
sent to the Board, and the Company is responsible for arranging and funding of such training if any Director elects 
to attend such seminars.

Transactions which are specifically referred to the Board for approval are those involving material acquisitions and 
disposal of assets, banking facilities and the provision of security, significant capital expenditure, conflicts of interest, 
joint venture arrangements, share issuances, interim dividends, the annual budget, and financial results.

The Company’s Constitution permit Board meetings to be held by way of telephone or video conference or any other 
electronic means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting are able, contemporaneously, 
to hear and be heard by all other participants.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior management and the Joint Company 
Secretaries and/or the Corporate Business and Legal Counsel. The Joint Company Secretaries and/or the Corporate 
Business and Legal Counsel attend the Board and Board Committee meetings and are responsible for ensuring that 
Board procedures are followed. The agenda for the meetings of the Board and its Committees, together with the 
appropriate supporting documents, are circulated to the Board prior to the meetings.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Directors’ Attendances at Board, Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees Meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year. Ad hoc meetings are convened if there are matters requiring the Board’s 
decision at the relevant times.

The number of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings held in the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
and the attendance of Directors at these meetings are as follows:

Meetings of: Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Total held in FY ended 31 December 2015 5 4 2 2
Lew Syn Pau 5 4 2 2
Lee Chow Soon 5 4 2 2
Eu Yee Ming Richard 4 4 2 2
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee 5 4 N.A. N.A.
Wong Yi Jia(1) 4 N.A. N.A. N.A.
Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) 5 N.A. N.A. N.A.
Ng Ah Hoy 5 N.A. N.A. N.A.

Note:

(1)	 Appointed as non-executive Director with effect from 30 March 2015 and as a member of the Nomination Committee and 
Remuneration Committee with effect from 1 August 2015.

Principles 2, 3 & 4
Board Composition, Balance and Membership

Principle 2
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of whom three are independent Directors, two are non-executive 
and non-independent Directors and two executive Directors. Therefore, more than one-third of the Board are 
independent Directors.

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board and Board Committees are tabled as follows:

Name of director and role in Board Board
Audit 

committee
Remuneration 

committee
Nomination 
committee

Lew Syn Pau
  Independent Director

Non-Executive 
Chairman

Member Member Member

Lee Chow Soon Member Chairman Member Member
  Independent Director
Eu Yee Ming Richard Member Member Chairman Chairman
  Independent Director
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee Member Member
  Non-Executive Director
Wong Yi Jia(1) Member Member Member
  Non-Executive Director
Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy)(2) Member
  Executive Director and
  Chief Executive Officer
Ng Ah Hoy Member
  Executive Director

Notes:
(1)	 Ms Wong Yi Jia, was appointed a non-executive and non-independent Director, on 30 March 2015. She was appointed as 

a member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee with effect from 1 August 2015.

(2)	 Mr Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) was appointed as an Executive Director on 14 January 2015.
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As a group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of expertise and experience in areas such as accounting, 
finance, law, business and management, strategic planning and customers service. The diversity of the Directors’ 
experience allows for the useful exchange of ideas and views. The profile of each Board member, including details 
of their academic and professional qualifications and date of last election, is set out in the section entitled “Board 
of Directors” on page 6.

Both Mr Lee Chow Soon and Mr Richard Eu have been independent directors of the Company for more than 9 
years. The Nomination Committee (“NC”) had assessed the independence of both Directors and noted that their 
contributions and inputs to the Board and the Board committees continue to be invaluable and both the NC and 
the Board are satisfied that they continue to be capable of exercising independent judgment and discretion in 
considering matters relating to the Group. The Board agreed that in light of each of their experience and institutional 
memory of the Group, it is in the best interests of the Group for each of them to continue on the Board as an 
independent director. Each of these directors have consented to the Board’s request.

Principle 3
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by two separate individuals. Mr Lew Syn Pau is the 
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Mr Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) is the Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The Chairman and the CEO are not related to each other.

There is an appropriate division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO, which ensures a balance of 
power and authority within the Company. The Chairman leads the Board and manages its workings and proceedings. 
He plays a crucial role in fostering constructive dialogue with shareholders at the Company’s Annual and 
Extraordinary General meetings, as well as between the Board and management. The CEO heads the management 
of the Group and oversees the execution of the Company’s corporate and business strategies and policies, and the 
conduct of its business, as approved by the Board.

Principles 4 & 5
Board Membership and Board Performance

Nomination Committee

The NC comprises the following members, the majority of whom (including the Chairman) are Independent Directors:

Eu Yee Ming Richard (Chairman)
Lew Syn Pau
Lee Chow Soon
Wong Yi Jia (appointed on 1 August 2015)

The NC is regulated by a set of written terms of reference endorsed by the Board, setting out their duties and 
responsibilities. The principal functions of the NC are as follows:

(a)	 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
(b)	 to make recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments, re-appointments and re-nomination;
(c)	 to assess the independence of the Directors;
(d)	 to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and individual directors; and
(e)	 to oversee succession planning for the Directors and the CEO.

Board Membership

The NC has reviewed the independence of the Directors for FY2015 in accordance with the Code’s definition 
of independence and is of the view that Mr Eu Yee Ming Richard, Mr Lee Chow Soon, and Mr Lew Syn Pau 
are independent. The NC has conducted a formal assessment of the Board’s performance as a whole, and the 
contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board for FY2015.
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The Company’s Constitution requires that in each year, one-third of the Directors will have to retire from office. 
Accordingly, the Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals at least once 
every three years. It is also provided in the Company’s Constitution that new Directors appointed during the year 
shall only hold office until the next Annual General Meeting and are subject to re-election by the shareholders. 
The NC has recommended the re-election of Mr Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee, Mr Eu Yee Ming Richard and Mr Lee 
Chow Soon at the upcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).

The NC noted that pursuant to the amendments to the Companies Act, Mr Lee Chow Soon is no longer required 
to stand for re-appointment annually at each AGM. Upon his reappointment at the conclusion of the forthcoming 
AGM he will be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Constitution.

The NC and the Board note that each Director who holds multiple board representations in listed companies are 
assessed on an individual basis, taking into account various factors including their contributions and commitment to 
the Board and the extent of their external obligations. Accordingly, the NC and the Board have not set a maximum 
number of listed board representations but assess each Director on a case by case basis. Notwithstanding that 
some of the Directors have multiple listed board representations, the NC is satisfied that each Director is able to 
and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company.

The NC evaluates the Board’s performance as a whole on an annual basis. Each Director is required to complete a 
Board Evaluation Questionnaire to assess the overall effectiveness of the Board. The areas under evaluation include 
board composition, board information, board process, internal control and risk management, board accountability, 
CEO and top management, and standards of conduct.

New Directors

The search and nomination process for new Directors, if any, are through contacts, recommendations and 
executive search firms. The NC will review and assess candidates before making recommendations to the Board. In 
recommending new directors to the Board, the NC takes into consideration the skills and experience required to 
support the Group’s business activities or strategies and the current composition and size of the Board, and strives 
to ensure that the Board has an appropriate balance of Independent Directors as well as Directors with the right 
profile to expertise, skills and attributes.

New Directors are appointed by the Board, after taking into consideration the recommendations of the NC. Such 
new Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election at the next AGM of the Company following their 
appointment.

Principle 6
Access to Information

The Board is furnished with relevant information and analysis by management pertaining to matters for the Board’s 
discussion and decision. Management also ensures that the Board receives regular reports on the Group’s financial 
performance and operations. The Board has separate and independent access to the management and the Joint 
Company Secretaries and/or the Corporate Business and Legal Counsel at all times. The Joint Company Secretaries 
and/or the Corporate Business and Legal Counsel attends to all corporate secretariat and compliance matters 
and is responsible for ensuring that legal and regulatory requirements as well as Board procedures are complied 
with. The Company Secretaries and/or the Corporate Business and Legal Counsel attends all Board meetings. The 
appointment and removal of the Joint Company Secretaries are subject to the approval of the Board.

Each Director has the right to seek independent legal and other professional advice, at the Company’s expense, 
concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfil their duties and responsibilities 
as Directors.
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Principles 7, 8 & 9
Remuneration Matters

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) performs critical roles in support of sound Corporate Governance principle 
in the areas of Board’s compensation and executives rewards management. As at the date of this report, the RC 
comprises the following members, a majority of whom (including the Chairman) are Independent Directors:

Eu Yee Ming Richard (Chairman)
Lew Syn Pau
Lee Chow Soon
Wong Yi Jia (appointed on 1 August 2015)

The RC has adopted written terms of reference endorsed by the Board, setting out their duties and responsibilities. 
The RC’s function is in attracting, retaining and rewarding well-qualified persons to serve the Group by pegging 
remuneration and benefits at competitive market rates. Directors’ fees and the base salaries of staff are reviewed 
to ensure they are at sufficiently competitive levels. A compensation system is in place to reward staff based on 
their merit and performance through annual merit service increments and profit sharing. The Company adopts 
a remuneration policy that comprises a base salary and benefits, along with a variable performance bonus and 
grant of shares under the Company’s share option scheme and share plan. The Company’s share option scheme 
for Directors, senior management and executives serves as a long-term incentive plan. The share option scheme 
had expired on 7 November 2011. In addition, the Company has in place a share plan, which was approved by 
the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 July 2010. The share plan is to 
reward, retain and motivate employees of the Group and/or associated companies who excel in their performance 
and encourages greater dedication, loyalty and higher standards of performance. The share option scheme and 
share plan are administrated by the RC.

The RC has the right to seek expert and independent professional advice in the field of executive compensation 
where required, at the Company’s expense. No Director decides his own remuneration. Directors’ fees are paid 
only after approval by shareholders at the Company’s AGM.

Disclosure on remuneration of Directors and CEO

A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual Director’s remuneration in percentage terms is set out 
below. For competitive reasons, the Board is of the view that full disclosure on remuneration of the Directors and 
CEO will not benefit the Company.

Remuneration band and 
Name of Directors Salary Bonus

Directors’ 
fees 

Directors’ 
profit 

sharing 
Advisory 
Services 

Consultancy 
services 

Benefits-
in-kind 

Share 
award(1) 

% % % % % % % %
S$0 to S$249,999
Lew Syn Pau – – 100 – – – – –
Lee Chow Soon – – 100 – – – – –
Eu Yee Ming Richard – – 100 – – – – –
Lee Po Lo @
  Lee Khong Kee – – 100 – – – – –
Wong Yi Jia 50 – 50 – – – – –
Wong Sheung Sze(2) – – 26 – 67 – 7 –

S$250,000 to S$499,999
Ng Ah Hoy 86 3 5 – – – 4 2

S$500,000 to S$749,999
Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) 89 4 4 – – – 1 2
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Notes:

(1)	 Refer to share awards granted under the BIGL Share Plan to executive Directors during the financial year. The fair value of 
stock awards granted is estimated using Trinomial Option Pricing model. The details of the BIGL Share Plan were provided 
in the Directors’ Report.

(2)	 Mr Wong Sheung Sze passed away on 10 March 2015.

Ms Wong Yi Jia is the daughter of Madam Lau Leok Yee, who is the widow of the late Mr Wong Sheung Sze and 
a substantial shareholder of the Company. She was the Company’s Corporate Legal Counsel and Joint Company 
Secretary but resigned from both positions on 30 March 2015. She was appointed as an alternate director to the 
late Mr Wong Sheung Sze on 1 August 2014 and as a director on 30 March 2015. For FY2015, the aggregate total 
remuneration paid to Ms Wong Yi Jia as an employee and a director was in the remuneration band of $0 to $50,000.

Disclosure on remuneration of the top five key executives (who are not directors) and employees who are 
immediate family members of a director

For competitive reasons, the Board is of the view that disclosure on remuneration of key executives will not benefit 
the Company. For FY2015, the aggregate total remuneration paid to the relevant key management personnel (who 
are not Directors or the CEO) amounted to $1,746,864 (2014: $1,301,583).

Mr Wong Yi Chun, the brother of Ms Wong Yi Jia, a non-executive Director of the Company, is employed by the 
Group as Business Analyst. For FY2015, the aggregate total remuneration paid to Mr Wong Yi Chun was in the 
remuneration band of $50,000 to $100,000.

Principles 10, 11, 12 & 13
Accountability, Risk Management and Internal Controls, Audit Committee & Internal Audit

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three Independent Directors and one non-executive Director, all of whom 
have the requisite qualifications to discharge their responsibilities:

Lee Chow Soon  (Chairman)
Lew Syn Pau
Eu Yee Ming Richard
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee

The composition of the AC is in compliance with Section 201B of the Companies Act, which prescribes that a majority 
of the AC Members must not be executive Directors of the Company or any related corporations. With the majority 
of the AC Members including the Chairman being independent, the AC is able to perform its roles and functions 
independently.

The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any activity within its terms of reference, having unrestricted access 
to information relating to the Group, to both internal and external auditors, and to the Management and staff. It has 
full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. It has adequate resources to enable 
it to discharge its functions properly. The AC, having reviewed for any non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors to the Group, has confirmed that there were no such services provided during the year which would affect 
the independence of the external auditors.

The AC meets at least four times a year. Ad hoc meetings are also convened when circumstances require. The 
attendances at AC meetings for FY2015 are disclosed on page 11 of this report.

The AC performs the following key functions:

(a)	 recommending the nomination or re-nomination of the external auditors and approving the remuneration 
and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

(b)	 reviewing the audit plan, scope and findings of the external auditors as well as meeting with the external 
auditors at least once a year without the presence of the management;
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(c)	 reviewing all non-audit services provided by the external auditors and confirming that these non-audit services 
would not affect the independence of the external auditors;

(d)	 reviewing the quarterly, half-year and full year results announcements and financial statements of the Company 
and the consolidated financial statements of the Group, monitoring their integrity and reviewing significant 
reporting issues and judgements contained therein, before submission to the Board for approval for the 
release of the results announcements to the SGX-ST;

(e)	 evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control systems, including financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology controls of the Company;

(f)	 to meet with the external auditors and the internal auditors without the presence of management at least 
once annually;

(g)	 to review interested person transactions; and

(h)	 to review arrangements by which staff of the Company may in confidence raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The Group has in place a whistle blowing 
policy which provides the mechanism for which staff of the Group may in confidence, raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters.

The AC is regularly updated and briefed by Management and the external auditors on any changes to accounting 
standards and issues which have a direct impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Internal Controls

The AC has reviewed the Group’s system of internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls and risk management systems established by the management. This ensured that 
such controls are sound and adequate to provide reasonable assurance of the integrity, effectiveness and efficiency 
of the Company in safeguarding Shareholders’ interests and the Company’s assets. Additionally, in performing 
their audit of the financial statements, the external auditors perform tests over operating effectiveness of certain 
controls that the auditors intend to rely on that are relevant to the Group’s preparation of its financial statements. 
The external auditors also report any significant deficiencies in such internal controls to the Directors and the AC.

The Board notes that it has received assurance from the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”):

(a)	 that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the Group’s operations and finances, and

(b)	 regarding the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external 
auditors and reviews performed by the Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion 
that the Group’s internal controls including financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls and 
risk management systems, are adequate and effective as at 31 December 2015. The Board regularly reviews the 
effectiveness of the risk management and all internal controls, including operational controls of the Group.

The Board notes that no system of internal control could provide absolute assurance against material financial 
misstatements, poor judgment in decision-making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities. The system of 
internal control includes safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of 
financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulations and best practices, and the identification 
and containment of financial, business and compliance risks.

Any material internal control matters noted by the external auditors in the course of their statutory audit have been 
discussed with the AC.
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Internal Audit

The Group had in place an internal audit function for part of the financial year as the internal audit manager hired 
in March 2015 resigned to attend to family matters in September 2015. The internal audit manager was qualified 
professional who, during the period of his service, reported directly to the Chairman of the AC on internal audit 
matters. The primary objective of the internal audit function was to provide reasonable, independent and objective 
assurance that the existing system of internal controls are adequate and operating effectively to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. The Board is looking into hiring a new internal audit manager 
who is suitably qualified to perform this role. For the time being, the AC is satisfied that the effectiveness of the 
external auditors is adequate in meeting the needs of the Group.

Risk Management Policies and Processes

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial operations are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and 
interest rate risk. The Board reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the directors to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow. 
To ensure that the Group has adequate overall liquidity to finance its operations and investment requirements, the 
Group maintains a significant amount of available banking facilities with a number of banks.

The Group’s main currency exposures are in Singapore dollar, United States Dollar, Thailand Baht and Chinese 
Renminbi. The Group uses a combination of natural hedges of matching assets and liabilities and forward contracts 
and derivatives as a hedging tool to manage its exposure to fluctuating foreign currency values.

As for credit risk, the Group places its cash and cash equivalents with creditworthy institutions. The Group performs 
ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial conditions.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by maintaining a prudent mix of fixed and floating interest rate borrowings. 
In managing the interest rate profile, the Group takes into account the interest rate outlook and the expected cash 
flow generated from its business operations.

Various measures are implemented to manage Group’s operational risks. These include safety and security, internal 
control procedures and appropriate insurance coverage.

Fees Paid to External Auditors

The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors of the Group for FY2015 is disclosed under Note 24 of 
the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Principles 14, 15 & 16
Shareholder Rights, Communication with Shareholders and Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

The Group believes in upholding a strong culture of continuous disclosure and transparent communication with 
all stakeholders and does not practice selective disclosure. All material and price-sensitive information relating 
to the Group are released timely and equally to the general public and shareholders by way of public releases or 
announcements through SGXNET at first instance and then posted on the Group’s website.

The management ensures that all shareholders will receive the annual report, circulars and notices of the 
shareholders’ meetings within the mandatory period. Shareholders are encouraged to attend and participate at 
the Company’s AGM to ensure that they have a better understanding of the Group’s plans and developments for 
the future.

The AGM and Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”), if applicable, are attended by the Directors, external 
auditors, the Company Secretary and Management. The Group welcomes shareholders’ feedback and encourages 
their participation in sharing ideas and asking questions during such sessions.
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The Company prepare minutes of general meetings that include substantial and relevant comments or queries from 
shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting, and responses from the Board and Management, and to make 
these minutes available to shareholders upon their request.

To have greater transparency in the voting process, the Company has adopted the system of voting by poll at its 
AGM and EGM. Results of each resolution put to vote at the AGM are announced immediately at the meeting. 
Separate resolutions at general meetings are on substantially separate issues. All the resolutions at the general 
meetings are single item resolution. Shareholders may also appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in his/
her stead.

Shareholders can visit Broadway’s website at www.bw-grp.com for the latest update as well as more information 
on the Group.

Internal Code on Dealing with Securities

An internal code, which complies with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, with respect to dealings 
in securities of the Company, has been issued to Directors and officers. The Company’s Directors and officers are 
not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares within two weeks before the announcement of its result for each of the 
first three quarters of the financial year and one month before the announcement of its full year results.

Directors and officers are reminded not to deal in the Company’s securities on consideration of a short-term nature.

Directors and officers are required to observe insider trading provisions under the Securities and Futures Act at all 
times even when dealing in the Company’s securities within the permitted periods. Directors and officers of the 
Company are required to report all dealings to the Company.

Interested Person Transactions

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, there were no interested person transactions (“IPT”) entered 
with the Group that amounted to more than $100,000. The Company has also put in place an internal procedure 
to track IPTs of the Group.

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of Directors or controlling 
shareholders.

Dividend

Given the financial position of the Group and the Board and Management’s cautious view on the Group’s prospects 
for FY2016, no dividend has been declared or recommended in respect of FY2015.

7 April 2016
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial 
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

In our opinion:

(a)	 the financial statements set out on pages 27 to 92 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and the financial performance, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Lew Syn Pau
Lee Chow Soon
Eu Yee Ming Richard
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee
Wong Yi Jia	 (appointed on 30 March 2015)
Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy)
Ng Ah Hoy

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 
50 (the “Act”), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those 
held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and 
in related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings 
at beginning of 
the year/date of 

appointment

Holdings 
at end of 
the year

The Company

Lew Syn Pau
– ordinary shares
  – interests held 92,640 –
  – deemed interests 44,479,999 44,572,639

Lee Chow Soon
– ordinary shares
  – interests held 453,333 453,333
– options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
  – $0.45 per share between 03/03/2011 and 03/03/2015 100,000 –
  – $0.50 per share between 04/03/2012 and 04/03/2016 100,000 100,000
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Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings 
at beginning of 
the year/date of 

appointment

Holdings 
at end of 
the year

The Company

Eu Yee Ming Richard
– ordinary shares
  – interests held 147,333 147,333
– options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
  – $0.45 per share between 03/03/2011 and 03/03/2015 100,000 –
  – $0.50 per share between 04/03/2012 and 04/03/2016 100,000 100,000

Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee
– ordinary shares
  – interests held 1,861,962 1,896,962
– options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
  – $0.45 per share between 03/03/2011 and 03/03/2020 150,000 150,000
– share awards to be delivered from 2013 to 2015 0 to 20,000(1) –
– share awards to be delivered from 2014 to 2016 0 to 45,000(2) 0 to 30,000(2)

Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy)1

– ordinary shares
  – interests held 67,000 123,250
– options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
  – $0.14 per share between 02/06/2011 and 03/03/2019 200,000 200,000
  – $0.565 per share between 11/05/2011 and 11/05/2020 200,000 200,000
  – $0.51 per share between 10/05/2012 and 10/05/2021 200,000 200,000
– share awards to be delivered from 2013 to 2015 0 to 40,000(1) –
– share awards to be delivered from 2014 to 2016 0 to 30,000(2) 0 to 20,000(2)

– share awards to be delivered from 2015 to 2017 0 to 25,000(3) 0 to 18,750(3)

– share awards to be delivered from 2016 to 2018 0 to 30,000(4) 0 to 30,000(4)

– share awards to be delivered from 2017 to 2019 – 0 to 60,000(5)

1	 Mr Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) was appointed as a director of the Company on 14 January 2015.

Ng Ah Hoy
– ordinary shares
  – interests held 1,037,000 67,500
  – deemed interests 128,000 1,165,000
– options to subscribe for ordinary shares at:
  – $0.45 per share between 03/03/2011 and 03/03/2020 150,000 150,000
– share awards to be delivered from 2013 to 2015 0 to 40,000(1) –
– share awards to be delivered from 2014 to 2016 0 to 45,000(2) 0 to 30,000(2)

– share awards to be delivered from 2015 to 2017 0 to 50,000(3) 0 to 37,500(3)

– share awards to be delivered from 2016 to 2018 0 to 25,000(4) 0 to 25,000(4)

– share awards to be delivered from 2017 to 2019 – 0 to 40,000(5)
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Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings 
at beginning of 
the year/date of 

appointment

Holdings 
at end of 
the year

The Company

Wong Sheung Sze2

– ordinary shares
  – interests held 79,851,142 –
  – deemed interests 90,317,468 –

2 	 Mr Wong Sheung Sze ceased to be a director of the Company with his demise on 10 March 2015. The shares held by Mr Wong 
Sheung Sze had on 24 April 2015 been transferred to his widow Mdm Lau Leok Yee.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Wong Sheung Sze is deemed to have interests in the other subsidiaries of the 
Company, at the beginning of the financial year.

Wong Yi Jia3

– ordinary shares
  – interests held – –
  – deemed interests – –

3 	 Ms Wong Yi Jia was appointed as director of the Company on 30 March 2015.

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in 
shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning 
of the financial year, or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.

(1)	 The actual number of shares to be delivered will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year 
period from 2012 to 2015.

(2)	 The actual amount of shares to be delivered will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year 
period from 2013 to 2016.

(3)	 The actual amount of shares to be delivered will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year 
period from 2014 to 2017.

(4)	 The actual amount of shares to be delivered will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year 
period from 2015 to 2018.

(5)	 The actual amount of shares to be delivered will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year 
period from 2016 to 2019.
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Except as disclosed under the “Share Options” and “Share Plan” sections of this statement, neither at the end of, 
nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of 
whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Share options

The BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001 (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members 
at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 8 November 2001. The Scheme is administered by the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee, comprising four directors, Eu Yee Ming Richard, Lee Chow Soon, Lew Syn Pau and Wong 
Yi Jia. The Scheme expired on 7 November 2011.

Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

•	 The options can be exercised 1 year after the grant date for market price options and 2 years after the grant 
date for incentive options. A further vesting period for the exercise of the options may be set.

•	 The exercise price of the incentive options can be set at a discount to the market price not exceeding 20% 
of the market price in respect of options granted at the time of grant.

•	 All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

•	 The options granted expire after 5 years for non-executive directors and 10 years for employees.

At the end of the financial year, details of the options granted under the Scheme on the unissued ordinary shares 
of the Company, are as follows:

Date of 
grant  of 
options

Exercise 
price per 

share

Options 
outstanding 

as at 
1 January 

2015
Options 
granted

Options 
exercised

Options 
forfeited

Options 
outstanding 

as at 
31 December 

2015

Number of 
option holders 

as at 
31 December 

2015
Exercise
period

$

06/03/2009 0.07 16,000 – – – 16,000 1 06/03/2010 to 
06/03/2019

02/06/2009 0.14 200,000 – – – 200,000 1 02/06/2011 to 
02/06/2019

03/03/2010 0.45 720,000 – – – 720,000 13 03/03/2011 to 
03/03/2020

03/03/2010 0.45 200,000 – – (200,000) – – 03/03/2011 to 
03/03/2015

11/05/2010 0.565 200,000 – – – 200,000 1 11/05/2011 to 
11/05/2020

04/03/2011 0.50 200,000 – – – 200,000 2 04/03/2012 to 
04/03/2016

10/05/2011 0.51 200,000 – – – 200,000 1 10/05/2012 to 
10/05/2021

1,736,000 – – (200,000) 1,536,000

^	 These options were granted at a discount of 20%.
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Details of options granted to directors and an employee of the Company under the Scheme are as follows:

Aggregate 
options 

granted since 
commencement 
of Scheme to 
31 December 

2015

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 
of Scheme to 
31 December 

2015

Aggregate 
options 

forfeited since 
commencement 
of Scheme to 
31 December 

2015

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2015

Name of director     
Lee Chow Soon 500,000 (200,000) (200,000) 100,000
Eu Yee Ming Richard 365,000 (65,000) (200,000) 100,000
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee 960,000 (810,000) – 150,000
Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) 600,000 – – 600,000
Ng Ah Hoy 1,010,000 (860,000) – 150,000

Except for the above directors and an employee, no options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of 
the Company or their associates and no participant under the Scheme has been granted 5% or more of the total 
options available under the Scheme during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Since the commencement of the Scheme, no options have been granted to employees of the Company or its 
related corporations under the Scheme, except for 14 employees of the Company, of which an employee is also a 
director of the Company, who were granted options to subscribe for a total of 3,633,000 ordinary shares (adjusted 
for one-for-one bonus share issue in 2011) in the Company.

The options granted by the Company do not entitle the holders of the options, by virtue of such holding, to any 
rights to participate in any share issue of any other company.

Share plan

The BIGL Share Plan (the “Plan”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting held on 28 July 2010. The Plan is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee, 
comprising four directors, Eu Yee Ming Richard, Lee Chow Soon, Lew Syn Pau and Wong Yi Jia.

The Plan is intended to reward, retain and motivate employees to higher standards of performance and encourage 
greater dedication and loyalty by enabling the Company to give recognition to outstanding employees of the Group 
and/or associated companies.

Awards will be released to participants as fully paid shares upon expiry of the prescribed vesting periods or retention 
periods and subject to conditions prescribed in the Plan.

Employees of the Group and/or associated companies shall be eligible to participate in the Plan subject to 
the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Non-executive directors of the Group and associated 
companies, controlling shareholders and their associates will not be eligible to participate in the Plan.

As at the date of this statement, the following shares have been granted conditionally under the Plan:

Financial year ended No. of shares

31 December 2011 1,054,000
31 December 2012 910,000
31 December 2013 577,000
31 December 2014 430,000
31 December 2015 600,000
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The actual number of shares awarded will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year period. This 
will be determined by the Remuneration Committee at the end of the qualifying performance period and released 
to the recipient over a four-year vesting period in the ratio of 0%, 25%, 25% and 50% consecutively.

The details of the awards granted under the Plan are as follows:

Date of 
grant of 
share awards

Share awards 
not released at 

1 January 
2015

Share awards 
granted during 

the financial 
year ended 

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
granted since 

commencement 
of Plan to 

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
vested since 

commencement 
of Plan to 

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
forfeited since 
commencement 

of Plan to 
31 December 

2015

Share awards 
not released at 
31 December 

2015

4 March 2011 288,000 – 1,054,000 (680,500) (373,500) –
4 April 2012 75,000 – 165,000 (50,000) (65,000) 50,000
4 May 2012 116,250 – 310,000 (92,500) (140,000) 77,500
4 June 2012 213,750 – 405,000 (150,000) (145,000) 110,000
18 July 2012 22,500 – 30,000 (15,000) – 15,000
4 April 2013 220,000 – 315,000 (55,000) (95,000) 165,000
4 June 2013 175,000 – 262,000 (43,750) (128,250) 90,000
4 May 2014 170,000 – 210,000 – (75,000) 135,000
4 June 2014 220,000 – 220,000 – (20,000) 200,000
4 April 2015 – 300,000 300,000 – (80,000) 220,000
4 May 2015 – 160,000 160,000 – – 160,000
4 June 2015 – 140,000 140,000 – – 140,000

Details of share awards granted to directors and employees of the Company under the Plan are as follows:

Share awards 
granted and 
not released 

as at 1 January 
2015

Share awards 
granted during 

the financial 
year ended 

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
vested during 
the financial
year ended 

31 December 
2015

Aggregate 
share awards 

granted and not 
released as at 
31 December 

2015

Name of director     
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee 65,000 – (35,000) 30,000
Lee Wai Leong (Jeremy) 125,000 60,000 (56,250) 128,750
Ng Ah Hoy 160,000 40,000 (67,500) 132,500

Name of employee
Chuah Aik Loon 119,000 40,000 (52,750) 106,250

Except for the above directors and employees, no share awards have been granted to the controlling shareholders 
of the Company or their associates and no participant under the Plan has been granted 5% or more of the total 
share awards available under the Plan during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Since the commencement of the Plan, no share awards have been granted to employees of the Company or its 
related corporations under the Plan, except for 32 employees of the Company, of which an employee is also a 
director of the Company, who were granted share awards of a total of 3,571,000 ordinary shares (adjusted for 
one-for-one bonus share issue in 2011) in the Company.

Except as disclosed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options granted 
and no shares awarded by the Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

The aggregate number of shares available under the Scheme, the Plan and any other applicable share-based schemes 
shall not exceed 15% of the Company’s total issued shares (excluding treasury shares).
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this statement are:

Lee Chow Soon (Chairman), non-executive director
Lew Syn Pau, non-executive director
Eu Yee Ming Richard, non-executive director
Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee, non-executive director

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the 
Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings since the last directors’ report. In performing its functions, the 
Audit Committee met with the Company’s external auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their 
examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

•	 assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the external auditors;

•	 quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their 
submission to the directors of the Company for adoption; and

•	 interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its 
functions. It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. 
The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit 
and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has 
recommended to the Board of Directors that the external auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment 
as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant associated companies, we have complied 
with Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the SGX Listing Manual.

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Lee Chow Soon	
Director	

Lew Syn Pau
Director

7 April 2016
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Broadway Industrial Group Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as 
at 31 December 2015, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 27 to 92.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions 
are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial 
statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of 
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at  
31 December 2015 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
7 April 2016

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
Broadway Industrial Group Limited
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Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 177,568 197,380 51 64
Goodwill 5 – 62,903 – –
Subsidiaries 7 – – 154,501 154,501
Associates 8 3,020 1,496 98 98
Other investments 9 919 1,024 852 852
Financial derivatives 10 17 203 – –
Deferred tax assets 11 1,510 13,326 – –

Non-current assets 183,034 276,332 155,502 155,515

Financial derivatives 10 749 241 – –
Inventories 12 89,425 92,468 – –
Trade and other receivables 13 128,769 158,940 740 1,887
Cash and cash equivalents 14 48,163 35,807 549 2,327
Asset held for sale 15 7,460 – – –

Current assets 274,566 287,456 1,289 4,214

Total assets 457,600 563,788 156,791 159,729

Equity
Share capital 113,091 113,016 113,091 113,016
Reserves 16 (3,182) (16,064) 292 373
Retained earnings 52,564 139,929 33,843 38,692

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 162,473 236,881 147,226 152,081
Non-controlling interests 1,401 1,394 – –

Total equity 16 163,874 238,275 147,226 152,081

Liabilities
Financial derivatives 10 4 2,343 – –
Loans and borrowings 17 30,587 50,588 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 11 203 226 – –

Non-current liabilities 30,794 53,157 – –

Financial derivatives 10 9,605 3,971 – –
Loans and borrowings 17 91,025 87,841 2,000 2,000
Trade and other payables 19 156,502 173,717 7,560 5,643
Provision for restructuring costs 20 4,241 – – –
Current tax liabilities 1,559 6,827 5 5

Current liabilities 262,932 272,356 9,565 7,648

Total liabilities 293,726 325,513 9,565 7,648

Total equity and liabilities 457,600 563,788 156,791 159,729

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF 
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2015 2014
Note $’000 $’000

Revenue 22 650,678 694,528
Cost of sales (584,879) (627,073)

Gross profit 65,799 67,455

Other income 4,839 5,575
Distribution expenses (14,435) (16,009)
Administrative expenses (35,469) (35,174)
Sales and marketing expenses (11,277) (8,720)
Other expenses (80,173) (8,901)

Results from operating activities (70,716) 4,226

Finance income 863 768
Finance costs (7,020) (7,861)

Net finance costs 23 (6,157) (7,093)

Share of profit of associates (net of tax) 1,084 207

Loss before tax 24 (75,789) (2,660)
Tax (expense)/credit 25 (11,536) 3,010

(Loss)/Profit for the year (87,325) 350

(Loss)/Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company (87,365) 173
Non-controlling interests 40 177

(Loss)/Profit for the year (87,325) 350

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (cents) 26 (18.57) 0.04

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 26 (18.57) 0.04

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME STATEMENT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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2015 2014
$’000 $’000

(Loss)/Profit for the year (87,325) 350

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that will or may be reclassified 
  subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 12,602 8,305
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 380 (459)
Share of foreign currency translation differences of associates (52) 29

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 12,930 7,875

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (74,395) 8,225

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
Owners of the Company (74,402) 8,070
Non-controlling interests 7 155

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (74,395) 8,225

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
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Share 

capital

Reserve 

for own 

shares

Capital 

reserve

Share 

option 

reserve

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve

Translation 

reserve

Hedging 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Equity 

attributable 

to owners 

of the 

Company

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2014 103,448 (303) 2,924 812 870 (28,128) – 139,756 219,379 1,632 221,011

Total comprehensive income 

  for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 173 173 177 350

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation 

  differences for foreign operations – – – – – 8,327 – – 8,327 (22) 8,305

Effective portion of changes in 

  fair value of cash flow hedges – – – – – – (459) – (459) – (459)

Share of foreign currency transaction 

  differences of associates – – – – – 29 – – 29 – 29

Total comprehensive income 

  for the year – – – – – 8,356 (459) 173 8,070 155 8,225

Transactions with owners of

  the Company, recognised 

  directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions 

  to owners of the Company

Own shares acquired – (193) – – – – – – (193) – (193)

Vesting of share awards (4) 139 – (135) – – – – – – –

Share-based payment transactions – – – 53 – – – – 53 – 53

Rights issue 9,572 – – – – – – – 9,572 – 9,572

Effect of liquidation of a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – (393) (393)

Total contributions by and 

  distributions to owners of

  the Company 9,568 (54) – (82) – – – – 9,432 (393) 9,039

At 31 December 2014 113,016 (357) 2,924 730 870 (19,772) (459) 139,929 236,881 1,394 238,275

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Share 

capital

Reserve 

for own 

shares

Capital 

reserve

Share 

option 

reserve

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve

Translation 

reserve

Hedging 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Equity 

attributable 

to owners 

of the 

Company

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2015 113,016 (357) 2,924 730 870 (19,772) (459) 139,929 236,881 1,394 238,275

Total comprehensive income 

  for the year

Profit for the year – – – – – – – (87,365) (87,365) 40 (87,325)

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation 

  differences for foreign operations – – – – – 12,635 – – 12,635 (33) 12,602

Effective portion of changes in 

  fair value of cash flow hedges – – – – – – 380 – 380 – 380

Share of foreign currency  

  transaction differences of 

  associates – – – – – (52) – – (52) – (52)

Total comprehensive income 

  for the year – – – – – 12,583 380 (87,365) (74,402) 7 (74,395)

Transactions with owners of

  the Company, recognised 

  directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions 

  to owners of the Company

Own shares acquired – (108) – – – – – – (108) – (108)

Vesting of share awards 75 132 – (207) – – – – – – –

Share-based payment transactions – – – 102 – – – – 102 – 102

Total contributions by and 

  distributions to owners of

  the Company 75 24 – (105) – – – – (6) – (6)

At 31 December 2015 113,091 (333) 2,924 625 870 (7,189) (79) 52,564 162,473 1,401 163,874

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2015 2014
Note $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Loss before tax (75,789) (2,660)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 39,752 40,876
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 24 102 53
Fair value loss on financial derivatives 24 2,805 5,497
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 24 904 (511)
Gain on disposal of an asset held for sale 24 – (1,939)
Fair value change in trade receivables 24 4,295 –
Provision for restructuring costs 24 4,134 –
Goodwill impairment 24 67,292 –
Impairment loss on loan to investee companies 24 – 1,134
Interest expense 23 7,020 7,861
Interest income 23 (863) (768)
Share of profit of associates, net of tax (1,084) (207)

48,568 49,336
Change in inventories 8,867 4,460
Change in trade and other receivables 34,328 (8,706)
Change in trade and other payables (25,923) 16,170

Cash generated from operating activities 65,840 61,260
Income tax paid (4,774) (3,631)

Net cash from operating activities 61,066 57,629

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (23,580) (22,077)
Interest received 863 566
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3,048 1,134
Proceeds from disposal of other investment 105 –
Proceeds from disposal of the asset held for sale – 4,109
Effects of liquidation of a subsidiary – (171)

Net cash used in investing activities (19,564) (16,439)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (7,020) (7,808)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 121,762 56,532
Proceeds from rights issue net of transaction costs – 9,572
Repayments of bank borrowings (146,526) (100,952)
Repurchase of own shares (108) (193)

Net cash used in financing activities (31,892) (42,849)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,610 (1,659)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 35,802 36,166
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 2,746 1,295

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 14 48,158 35,802

$1,600,000 (2014: $2,700,000) of property, plant and equipment acquired remain unpaid as at the end of the financial 
year and was recorded in other payables.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 April 2016.

1	 DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

Broadway Industrial Group Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in Singapore. The address 
of the Company’s registered office is 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623. The 
Company’s principal place of business is 3 Fusionopolis Way, #13-26/27 Symbiosis Tower, Singapore 138633.

The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2015 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group and individually as Group entities) and the 
Group’s interest in associates.

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities 
of significant subsidiaries are those relating to the manufacture of foam plastics and packaging products, 
expanded polystyrene related products and precision machined components and the sub-assembly of 
actuator arms.

2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1	 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”).

2.2	 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities, which are measured at fair value.

2.3	 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
Other entities within the Group have United States dollars and Chinese Renminbi as functional currencies. 
All functional information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.4	 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

2.4	 Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d)

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

• Note 4 – Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment
• Note 6 – Key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections
• Note 21 – Impairment assessment of trade receivables
• Note 25 – Measurement of provision for income taxes

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This includes 
a team that has overall responsibility for all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values, 
and reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer.

The team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party 
information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation 
team assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that 
such valuations meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such 
valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group Audit Committee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used 
in the valuation techniques as follows:

•	 Level 1  :  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•	 Level 2  : � inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
•	 Level 3  : � inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of 
the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 
being the lowest).

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in notes 21 and 28.
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2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

2.5	 Accounting policies for new transactions and events

Distributions of non-cash assets to owners of the Company

From 1 January 2015, the Group has applied INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners in 
accounting for distributions of non-cash assets to owners of the Company. The new accounting policy (see 
note 3.3) has been applied prospectively.

3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group entities, except as 
explained in note 2.5, which addresses changes in accounting policies.

3.1	 Basis of consolidation

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with FRS 103 Business 
Combination as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
•	 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in 

the acquiree over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and included in the 
consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent 
consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

When share-based payment awards (“replacement awards”) are exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s 
employees (“acquiree’s awards”) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the 
acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business 
combination. This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared 
with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate 
to past and/or future service.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.1	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Business combinations (cont’d)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets, at the acquisition date. The measurement basis taken is elected on a transaction-by-transaction basis. 
All other non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement 
basis is required by FRSs.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that 
the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no adjustments are made to goodwill and 
no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from transactions 
that do not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to 
the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Acquisitions from entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning 
of the earliest comparative year presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for 
this purpose comparatives are restated. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying 
amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The 
components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same components within Group equity and 
any gain/loss arising is recognised directly in equity.

Loss of control

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling 
interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the 
loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then 
such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as 
an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence 
retained.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.1	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Investments in associates (equity-accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial 
and operating policies of these entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds 20% 
or more of the voting power of another entity.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are 
recognised initially at cost. The cost of the investments includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income of the equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies of the 
equity-accounted investees with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences 
until the date that significant influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount 
of the investment, together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund 
the investee’s operations or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising 
from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Subsidiaries and associates in the separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses.

3.2	 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate 
at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost 
in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during 
the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are 
recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity 
instruments, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.2	 Foreign currency (cont’d)

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition, are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The 
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on 
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 
closing rate. For acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005, the exchange rates at the date of acquisition were used.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the 
foreign currency translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a 
non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to 
the non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence 
is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a 
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative 
amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment 
in an associate that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence, the relevant proportion 
of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither 
planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary 
item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation. These are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve in equity.

3.3	 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
assets are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest 
in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or 
liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: loans and receivables and 
available-for-sale financial assets.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.3	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables, excluding 
prepayments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. For the purpose of the consolidated 
statement of cash flows, pledged deposits are excluded in cash and cash equivalents.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale 
or are not classified in any of the above categories of financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses (see note 
3.9) are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When 
an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is classified to profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are 
originated. Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are recognised 
at the acquisition date. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expire.

Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are initially measured at fair 
value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.3	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial liabilities (cont’d)

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, and trade and other payables.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares 
are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes 
directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased 
shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own share account. When treasury 
shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the 
resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented in non-distributable capital reserve.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners of the Company

The Group measures a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a dividend to the owners of the Company 
at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend is remeasured at each 
reporting date and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised directly in equity as adjustments to 
the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group recognises the difference, if any, 
between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. 
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic 
characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and 
the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management objectives 
and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will 
be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at 
the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments 
are expected to be ‘highly effective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective 
hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range 
of 80 – 125%. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to 
occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit 
or loss.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.3	 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (cont’d)

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein 
are accounted for as described below.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative 
is recognised in OCI and presented in the hedging reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in 
the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is retained in OCI and 
reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the non-financial item affects profit 
or loss. In other cases as well, the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the same 
period that the hedged item affects profit or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge 
accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the 
balance in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Separable embedded derivatives

Changes in the fair value of separated embedded derivatives are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Intra-group financial guarantees in the separate financial statements

Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Company that require the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to meet payment 
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value and are classified as financial liabilities. Subsequent 
to initial measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative 
amortisation and the amount that would be recognised if they were accounted for as contingent liabilities. 
When financial guarantees are terminated before their original expiry date, the carrying amount of the financial 
guarantee is transferred to profit or loss.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.4	 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes:

•	 the cost of materials and direct labour;
•	 any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 

use;
•	 when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and
•	 capitalised borrowing costs.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between 
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will 
flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component 
is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual 
assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, 
that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated. Construction-in-progress is not 
depreciated until it is ready for its intended use.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.4	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Depreciation (cont’d)

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready 
for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready 
for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Buildings on freehold land – 20 years
Leasehold land – 26 to 50 years (period of lease)
Leasehold buildings – 16 to 47 years
Leasehold improvements – 1 to 5 years
Plant and machinery – 2 to 10 years
Office equipment and furniture – 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles – 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted if appropriate.

3.5	 Goodwill

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted investees, 
the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment 
loss on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying 
amount of the equity-accounted investee.

3.6	 Assets held for sale

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing 
use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are remeasured 
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and 
subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in 
excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

3.7	 Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of 
its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.8	 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on 
the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or 
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the 
case of manufactured inventories and work-in-progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production 
overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.9	 Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an associate, is assessed 
at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or 
delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would 
not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the 
payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, economic conditions that correlate with defaults or 
the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a 
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

Loans and receivables

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and 
collective level. All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All 
individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for 
any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and receivables that are not individually 
significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and receivables with similar 
risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing 
of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current 
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested 
by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When the 
Group considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written 
off. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed through profit or loss.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.9	 Impairment (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated 
in the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, 
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in profit or loss. Changes in 
cumulative impairment provisions attributable to application of the effective interest method are reflected 
as a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale 
debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit 
or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security 
is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, 
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable amount is 
estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 
or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the 
purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that 
the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored 
for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. 
Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as 
part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and 
then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased 
or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.9	 Impairment (cont’d)

Non-financial assets (cont’d)

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, 
and therefore is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an 
associate is tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in 
an associate may be impaired.

3.10	 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in 
profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than pension plans is the amount 
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The 
discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on corporate bonds, that have a credit rating of at least AA 
from rating agencies, that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that 
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. The calculation is performed 
using the projected unit credit method. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term 
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee 
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become 
entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for 
which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount 
ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and 
non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting 
conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and 
there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.11	 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

3.12	 Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is 
recognised when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales agreement, that the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration 
is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no 
continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount 
is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the sales 
agreement. Transfers of risks and rewards usually occur upon delivery to the customers; however, for 
sales under Vendor Management Inventory programmes, transfer occurs upon customers’ drawn-down of 
inventories at the third parties’ warehouses.

3.13	 Government grants

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as other income on 
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised.

3.14	 Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over 
the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining 
term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

3.15	 Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested that is recognised in profit or loss. Interest 
income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.16	 Tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or 
in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for:

•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain 
tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals 
for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including 
interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and 
may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes 
the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax 
liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.17	 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per 
share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. 
Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options and share awards granted to employees.

3.18	 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s 
CEO to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for 
which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily 
the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, fair value change on financial derivatives, financial 
derivatives, corporate bank loans and tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and 
equipment.

3.19	 New standards and interpretations not adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 January 2015, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The 
Group is currently assessing the potential impact of adopting these new standards and interpretations, on 
the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

These new standards include, among others, FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and FRS 109 
Financial Instruments which are mandatory for adoption by the Group on 1 January 2018.

•	 FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. It also introduces new cost guidance which requires certain costs of obtaining 
and fulfilling contracts to be recognised as separate assets when specified criteria are met. When 
effective, FRS 115 replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 
Construction Contracts, INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes, INT FRS 115 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue 
– Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

•	 FRS 109 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. It includes revised guidance on classification and measurement of financial instruments, 
a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general 
hedge accounting requirements.

As FRS 115 and FRS 109, when effective, will change the existing accounting standards and guidance applied 
by the Group and the Company in accounting for revenue and financial instruments, these standards are 
expected to be relevant to the Group and the Company. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards 
early.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

3.19	 New standards and interpretations not adopted (cont’d)

The Accounting Standards Council (ASC) announced on 29 May 2014 that Singapore-incorporated companies 
listed on the Singapore Exchange (SGX) will apply a new financial reporting framework identical to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for financial year ending 31 December 2018 onwards. 
Singapore-incorporated companies listed on SGX will have to assess the impact of IFRS 1 First-time adoption 
of IFRS when transitioning to the new reporting framework. The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
transitioning to the new reporting framework on its financial statements.

4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 

land

Buildings 

on 

freehold 

land

Leasehold 

land

Leasehold 

buildings

Leasehold 

improve-

ments

Plant 

and 

machinery

Office 

equipment 

and 

furniture

Motor 

vehicles

Construction-

in-progress Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost Cost Cost Valuation Valuation Cost Cost Cost Cost Cost

At 1 January 2014 1,847 6,449 5,657 35,307 75,691 352,321 13,299 2,533 19,851 512,955

Additions – – – 10,603 2,219 4,395 1,386 30 32 18,665

Disposals – – – (5) (13,738) (16,012) (1,013) (288) – (31,056)

Reclassifications – – 996 (996) 3,970 6,887 68 – (10,925) –

Effect of movements 

  in exchange rates 87 306 135 1,390 3,003 14,579 484 47 158 20,189

Liquidation of 

  a subsidiary – – (30) (586) (20) (721) (17) (70) – (1,444)

At 31 December 

  2014 1,934 6,755 6,758 45,713 71,125 361,449 14,207 2,252 9,116 519,309

Additions – – – 558 1,364 10,289 854 213 9,107 22,385

Disposals – – – (51) (4,041) (18,323) (598) (310) – (23,323)

Reclassifications – – – – 24 4,886 (1) – (4,909) –

Reclassification to 

  assets held for 

  sale (Note 15) – – – – – – – – (7,460) (7,460)

Effect of movements 

  in exchange rates 135 471 209 2,003 4,506 22,560 750 87 410 31,131

At 31 December 

  2015 2,069 7,226 6,967 48,223 72,978 380,861 15,212 2,242 6,264 542,042
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4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Freehold 

land

Buildings 

on 

freehold 

land

Leasehold 

land

Leasehold 

buildings

Leasehold 

improve-

ments

Plant 

and 

machinery

Office 

equipment 

and 

furniture

Motor 

vehicles

Construction-

in-progress Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accumulated  

  depreciation 

  and impairment 

  losses

At 1 January 2014 – 1,968 882 7,505 43,989 233,253 10,335 1,707 – 299,639

Depreciation 

  for the year – 324 142 1,415 9,065 28,240 1,425 265 – 40,876

Disposals – – – (5) (13,501) (15,515) (1,013) (256) – (30,290)

Reclassifications – – 31 (32) (3) (2) 6 – – –

Effect of movements 

  in exchange rates – 107 20 185 1,733 10,513 349 41 – 12,948

Liquidation of 

  a subsidiary – – (30) (386) (20) (721) (17) (70) – (1,244)

At 31 December 

  2014 – 2,399 1,045 8,682 41,263 255,768 11,085 1,687 – 321,929

Depreciation 

  for the year – 352 151 1,852 9,080 26,813 1,254 250 – 39,752

Disposals – – – (45) (2,585) (14,349) (558) (249) – (17,786)

Effect of movements 

  in exchange rates – 176 31 341 2,800 16,540 622 69 – 20,579

At 31 December 

  2015 – 2,927 1,227 10,830 50,558 284,772 12,403 1,757 – 364,474

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2014 1,847 4,481 4,775 27,802 31,702 119,068 2,964 826 19,851 213,316

At 31 December 

  2014 1,934 4,356 5,713 37,031 29,862 105,681 3,122 565 9,116 197,380

At 31 December 

  2015 2,069 4,299 5,740 37,393 22,420 96,089 2,809 485 6,264 177,568
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4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Plant and 
machinery

Office 
equipment 

and furniture Total
Company $’000 $’000 $’000
Cost
At 1 January 2014 136 221 357
Additions – 30 30
Disposal (87) (2) (89)

At 31 December 2014 49 249 298
Additions – 23 23
Disposal – (21) (21)

At 31 December 2015 49 251 300

Accumulated depreciation and
  impairment losses
At 1 January 2014 63 167 230
Depreciation for the year 18 37 55
Disposal (50) (1) (51)

At 31 December 2014 31 203 234
Depreciation for the year 10 26 36
Disposal – (21) (21)

At 31 December 2015 41 208 249

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2014 73 54 127

At 31 December 2014 18 46 64

At 31 December 2015 8 43 51

Security

The following property, plant and equipment are pledged as security to secure bank loans (see note 17):

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Leasehold land and buildings 2,728 3,142

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Group conducted an operational efficiency review 
of its manufacturing facilities, which resulted in changes in the expected usage of certain items of property, 
plant and equipment. As a result, the expected useful lives of these assets increased from 5 years and 8 years 
to 10 years and residual value increased from Nil to 10%. The effect of these changes on actual and expected 
depreciation expense, included in ‘cost of sales’, was as follows:

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Decrease in depreciation 
  expense 3,998 3,998 4,040 2,667 1,971 1,637
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5	 GOODWILL

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Cost
At 1 January 62,903 60,052
Effect of movements in exchange rates 4,389 2,851

At 31 December 67,292 62,903

Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 January – –
Impairment loss (67,292) –

At 31 December (67,292) –

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 62,903 60,052
At 31 December – 62,903

The goodwill arose from the Group’s acquisition of 44.15% interest in Compart Asia Pte Ltd in October 2007. 
The entire goodwill is allocated to the Group’s Hard Disk Drive component (“HDD”) business.
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6	 IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CASH-GENERATING UNITS (“CGUS”) CONTAINING GOODWILL AND 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated and property, plant and equipment attributed to the 
Group’s HDD CGU are as follows:

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment 98,514 103,830
Goodwill – 62,903

98,514 166,733

During the year, the HDD CGU continued to be in operating loss and revenue has declined more than 
management’s forecasts previously.

The recoverable amount of the HDD CGU was estimated based on its value in use. Value in use was 
determined by discounting the pre-tax future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGU.

The Group prepared cash flow forecasts using various scenarios for the HDD CGU derived from the most 
recent financial budget for 2016 (2014: 2015) and financial forecasts for 2017 to 2025 (2014: 2016 to 2019) 
approved by management. A forecast period of more than 5 years was used to reflect the effect of expected 
continued decline in revenue. The various scenarios are weighted using equal probability.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations in the various scenarios are revenue growth rate, 
gross profit margin, discount rate, terminal value growth rate and budgeted EBITDA growth rate. The key 
assumptions were as follows:

Group

2015 2014
% %

Revenue growth rate (range of next ten/average five years) Growth rate
of 4.0% 

for 2016 and
(1.3%) to (5.8%)

for the period 
2017 to 2025

0.7

Gross profit margin (range of next ten/average five years) 2.0 – 6.4 5.7
Discount rate (pre-tax) 13.0 11.6
Terminal value growth rate 0.0 1.5
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (range of next ten/average 
  five years)

0.6 – 9.1 11.5

Revenue growth rate

The revenue growth rates are based on management’s assessment of future trends in the HDD industry and 
are based on both internal sources (historical data) and external sources including industry forecasts and key 
customers’ long range forecasts.

Gross profit margin

The gross profit margins are based on internal sources (historical data). Changes in direct costs are based on 
past practices and expectation of future changes from the reorganisation of the HDD CGU.
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6	 IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CASH-GENERATING UNITS (“CGUS”) CONTAINING GOODWILL AND 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Discount rate

The discount rate is a pre-tax measure based on the risk-free rate obtained from the yield on 10- year bonds 
issued by the government and in the same currency as the cash flows, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect 
the increased risk of investing in equities and the systemic risk of the HDD CGU. The discount rate was 
determined with the assistance of an independent valuer.

Terminal value growth rate

Ten years of cash flows are included in the discounted cash flow model. A long term growth rate into 
perpetuity has been determined as the lower of the nominal GDP rates for the countries in which the CGU 
operates and the long-term compound annual growth rate in EBITDA which management believed was 
consistent with the assumption that a market participant in the HDD industry would make.

Budgeted EBITDA growth

Budgeted EBITDA was based on expectations of future outcomes taking into account past experience.

Based on the above key assumptions, the recoverable amount was lower than the carrying amount of the 
goodwill and property, plant and equipment of HDD CGU. The full goodwill of $67,292,000 was fully impaired 
and was included in “other expenses” in the income statement.

Following the impairment loss recognised in the goodwill that was allocated to the HDD CGU, the recoverable 
amount was equal to the carrying amount. Therefore, any adverse movement in a key assumption would lead 
to further impairment.

7	 SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Equity investments, at cost 155,001 158,506
Allowance for impairment (500) (4,005)

154,501 154,501

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of investments in subsidiaries during the year was 
as follows:

Company

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

At 1 January 4,005 4,687
Impairment loss write-off (3,505) (682)

At 31 December 500 4,005

During the year, an impairment loss of $3,505,000 (2014: $682,000) was written off upon completion of the 
liquidation of a subsidiary.
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7	 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Details of significant subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary
Principle place 

of business
Ownership 

interest

2015 2014
% %

Held by the Company:    
Compart Asia Pte Ltd(a) Singapore 100 100
Shanghai Broadway Packaging & 
  Insulation Materials Co., Ltd(e)

People’s Republic 
of China

96.47 96.47

Suzhou Broadway Plastic Packaging Co., Ltd(e) People’s Republic 
of China

100 100

Broadway Packaging (HK) Co Ltd(c) Hong Kong 100 100

Held by subsidiaries:

Held by Shanghai Broadway Packaging & 
  Insulation Materials Co., Ltd:
Wujiang Weltop Co., Ltd(e) People’s Republic 

of China
96.47 96.47

Chongqing Broadway Foam Applications & 
  Total Packaging Co., Ltd(e)

People’s Republic 
of China

96.47 96.47

Held by Broadway Packaging (HK) Co., Ltd:
Shenzhen Broadway Total Packaging Co., Ltd(e) People’s Republic 

of China
100 100

Held by Compart Asia Pte Ltd:
Compart Precision (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd(f) People’s Republic 

of China
100 100

Compart Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd(f) People’s Republic 
of China

100 100

Compart Hi-Precision Technologies 
  (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd(f)

People’s Republic 
of China

100 100

Compart Precision Components 
  Manufacturing (Wuxi) Co., Ltd(h)

People’s Republic 
of China

100 100

Compart Engineering, Inc.(d) United States 
of America

100 100

Compart Asia Pacific Ltd(b) Republic 
of Mauritius

100 100

Compart Precision (Thailand) Co., Ltd(b) Thailand 99.99 99.99
Compart Technologies (Chongqing) Co., Ltd(i) People’s Republic 

of China
100 100

Compart Technologies (Huizhou) Co., Ltd(g) People’s Republic 
of China

100 100
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7	 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

(a)	 Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants.

(b)	 Audited by other member firms of KPMG International.

(c)	 Audited by Mazars CPA Ltd.

(d)	 There is no statutory requirement to prepare audited financial statements in the country of incorporation.

(e)	 Audited by Nexia HDDY Shanghai CPAs Co.,Ltd., People’s Republic of China.

Shanghai Broadway Packaging & Insulation Materials Co., Ltd, Suzhou Broadway Plastic Packaging Co., Ltd, Wujiang 
Weltop Co., Ltd, Shenzhen Broadway Total Packaging Co., Ltd and Chongqing Broadway Foam Applications & 
Total Packaging Co., Ltd are foreign enterprises established in the People’s Republic of China on 9 November 
1993, 5 May 1993, 18 April 2001, 7 July 2006 and 15 Sep 2010 respectively for a term of 50 years, 30 years, 20 years, 
20 years and unlimited operating period respectively.

(f)	 Audited by Shenzhen Hengda Certified Public Accountants, People’s Republic of China.

Compart Hi-Precision Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd, Compart Precision (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd and Compart 
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd are foreign enterprises established in the People’s Republic of China on 1 March 
2007, 29 September 1995 and 8 September 2004 respectively for a term of 50 years, 30 years and 50 years.

(g)	 Audited by Asia Pacific GuoBang (Huizhou) Certified Public Accountants, People’s Republic of China.

Compart Technologies (Huizhou) Co., Ltd is foreign enterprises established in the People’s Republic of China on 
28 February 2011 for a term of 50 years.

(h)	 Audited by Wuxi Xincheng, Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd, People’s Republic of China.

Compart Precision Components Manufacturing (Wuxi) Co., Ltd is a foreign enterprise established in the People’s 
Republic of China on 22 July 2005 for a term of 50 years.

(i)	 Audited by Chongqing Dahua, Certified Public Accountants, People’s Republic of China.

Compart Technologies (Chongqing) Co., Ltd is a foreign enterprise established in the People’s Republic of China 
on 1 November 2010 for a term of 50 years.

The Group does not have subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest.
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8	 ASSOCIATES

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Investment in associates 3,020 1,496 2,198 2,198
Allowance for impairment – – (2,100) (2,100)

At 31 December 3,020 1,496 98 98

Details of the associates are as follows:

Name of associate
Country of

incorporation
Ownership 

interest

2015 2014
% %

Held by the Company:
Toho Foam (Thailand) Company Limited^ Thailand 24.22 24.22

Held by subsidiaries:
Held by Shanghai Broadway Packaging & 
  Insulation Materials Co., Ltd:
Shanghai Kiddy Children’s Products Co., Ltd# People’s Republic 

of China
38.59 38.59

Kaefer Broadway Insulation Systems 
  (Shanghai) Co., Ltd~

People’s Republic 
of China

47.27 47.27

Held by Wujiang Weltop Co., Ltd:
Wujiang Dairyu Broadway Plastic 
  Packaging Co., Ltd*

People’s Republic 
of China

47.27 47.27

^	 Audited by Briskal CPA Co., Ltd, Thailand.
#	 Audited by Shanghai Dong Qin Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., People’s Republic of China
~	 Audited by Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP, Shanghai Branch, People’s Republic of China
*	 Audited by Shanghai LSC Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., People’s Republic of China

The Group does not have associates that are material to the Group. The summarised financial information of 
the individually immaterial associates is not disclosed as the amounts are not significant.

9	 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     
Available-for-sale unquoted equity securities 805 910 805 805
Transferable club memberships, at cost 114 114 47 47

919 1,024 852 852

The Group’s exposure to credit risk and fair value information related to other investments are disclosed in 
note 21.
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10	 FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

Group
Fair value

Assets Liabilities

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current     
Forward exchange contracts – – – 2,310
Interest rate swap used for hedging 17 203 4 33

17 203 4 2,343

Current
Forward exchange contracts 708 173 9,315 3,219
Interest rate swap used for hedging 41 68 290 728
Other interest rate swaps – – – 24

749 241 9,605 3,971

766 444 9,609 6,314

11	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Property, plant and equipment 1,510 13,326 (203) (226)

Movement in temporary differences during the year

At 
1 January 

2014

Recognised 
in profit 
or loss 

(note 25)
Exchange 

differences

At 
31 December 

2014

Recognised 
in profit 
or loss 

(note 25)
Exchange 

differences

At 
31 December 

2015
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Property, plant 
  and equipment 14,034 (1,495) 561 13,100 (12,333) 540 1,307

The Group reviewed its deferred tax assets at the reporting date and assessed the probability of future 
taxable profits that are available for utilisation.
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11	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses for certain subsidiaries amounting to 
approximately $66,674,000 (2014: $43,781,000), of which $64,631,000 (2014: $41,738,000) will expire between 
2016 and 2035 (2014: 2015 and 2034) as follows:

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

  
Within one year 2,491 679
Between one and three years 10,845 8,196
Between three and five years 32,845 15,617
More than five years 18,450 17,246

64,631 41,738

The remaining tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. These tax losses are subject to agreement 
by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the respective countries in which certain 
subsidiaries operate. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is 
not probable that future taxable profit will be available in the relevant entities against which the Group can 
utilise the benefits therefrom.

12	 INVENTORIES

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

  
Raw materials 27,721 25,321
Work-in-progress 16,094 20,731
Finished goods 39,052 38,957
Spare parts and others 6,558 7,459

89,425 92,468

In 2015, raw materials, spare parts and others and changes in work-in-progress and finished goods recognised 
as cost of sales amounted to $584,879,000 (2014: $627,073,000).
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13	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Trade receivables 104,904 140,564 – –
Less: Impairment loss (2,539) (2,895) – –

102,365 137,669 – –
Deposits 3,117 3,017 101 107
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 501 1,629
Amounts due from an associate:
– trade 6,617 3,286 – –
– non-trade 2,604 4 – –
Amount due from a related party, trade 1,960 1,847 – –
VAT receivables 2,038 1,727 – –
Other receivables 3,576 3,922 – –

Loans and receivables 122,277 151,472 602 1,736
Prepayments 6,492 7,468 138 151

128,769 158,940 740 1,887

The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries and associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks, and impairment losses related to trade 
and other receivables is disclosed in note 21.

14	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Cash at bank and in hand 43,912 31,799 544 2,322
Fixed deposits with financial institutions 4,251 4,008 5 5

Cash and cash equivalents in the 
  statement of financial position 48,163 35,807 549 2,327

Fixed deposits pledged (5) (5)

Cash and cash equivalents in the 
  consolidated statement of cash flows 48,158 35,802

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum relating to cash and cash equivalents, at the 
reporting date for the Group and Company are 1.50% (2014: 1.49%) and 0.0001% (2014: 0.0001%) respectively.

Fixed deposits with financial institutions have an average maturity of 12 months (2014: 12 months) from the 
end of the financial year.

Fixed deposits pledged represent bank balances of certain subsidiaries pledged as security to obtain credit 
facilities.

The use of certain subsidiaries’ cash and cash equivalent of $4,246,000 (2014: $4,003,000) is restricted to 
working capital purposes in accordance with the terms stipulated in the fixed deposits agreements entered 
by the subsidiaries with the bankers.
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15	 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Reclassification from property, plant and equipment 7,460 –

In June 2015, management committed to a plan to sell the land and building in Chengdu which were still 
under construction-in-progress. Accordingly, the land and building held by the Group has been reclassified 
from property, plant and equipment to assets held for sale on 30 June 2015. Efforts to sell the property have 
commenced and the sale is still in progress at 31 December 2015.

Based on a Brokerage Opinion of Value report in May 2015, the fair value of the property was in the range 
from $7,777,000 to $8,815,000. The fair value was determined by Beijing CBRE Property Management Service 
Limited Chengdu Branch. The fair value was based on market value, being the estimated amount for which 
a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller 
in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 
prudently and without compulsion.

16	 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Group and Company

No. of shares No. of shares
2015 2014

Share capital ’000 ’000
Ordinary shares
On issue at 1 January 471,914 416,442
Issuances of shares – 55,472

On issue at 31 December 471,914 471,914

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled 
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. In respect of the Company’s shares that are held by the 
Group, all rights are suspended until those shares are reissued. All shares rank equally with regard to the 
Company’s residual assets.

All issued shares are fully paid, with no par value.

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Reserves     
Reserve for own shares (333) (357) (333) (357)
Capital reserve 2,924 2,924 – –
Share option reserve 625 730 625 730
Asset revaluation reserve 870 870 – –
Translation reserve (7,189) (19,772) – –
Hedging reserve (79) (459) – –

(3,182) (16,064) 292 373
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16	 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cont’d)

Reserve for own shares

The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group. 
At 31 December 2015, the Group held 1,445,150 (2014: 1,349,500) of the Company’s shares.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly arises from the restructuring of Compart Asia Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries (the “Compart 
Group”) in 2004.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the cumulative value of employee services received for the issue of share 
options. When options are exercised, the cumulative amount in the share option reserve which relates to the 
valuable consideration received in the form of employee services is transferred to share capital.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of leasehold land and buildings. There are no 
restrictions on the distribution of the balance to shareholders.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from the functional currency of 
the Company.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative change in the fair value of hedging 
instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss as the hedged cash 
flows affect profit or loss.

Retained earnings

Included in the Group’s retained earnings is an amount of $15,466,000 (2014: $14,619,000) relating to statutory 
surplus reserve and $431,000 (2014: $431,000) relating to legal reserve.

According to the relevant People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) regulations, the subsidiaries in the PRC are 
required to transfer 10% of profit after taxation, as determined under Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles of the PRC, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the entity’s 
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of dividends to equity 
owners. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be 
converted into paid-in capital in proportion to the existing interests of equity owners.

According to Thailand’s Civil and Commercial Code, the subsidiary in Thailand is required to allocate not 
less than 5% of its net profit to the legal reserve upon each dividend distribution, until the reserve balance 
reaches an amount not less than 10% of the subsidiary’s registered share capital.
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17	 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 30,587 50,588 – –

Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 82,699 67,303 – –
Unsecured bank loans 8,326 20,538 2,000 2,000

91,025 87,841 2,000 2,000

121,612 138,429 2,000 2,000

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

Nominal
Interest

rate
Year of 
maturity

2015 2014
Face 
value

Carrying 
amount

Face 
value

Carrying 
amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
Secured bank loans (RMB) 5% – 5.65% 2016 1,638 1,638 2,024 2,024
Secured bank loans (USD) 2.32% – 4.50% 2016 – 2018 89,667 89,667 115,867 115,867
Secured bank loans (THB) 3.18% – 3.40% 2020 21,981 21,981
Unsecured bank loans (SGD) 5.09% 2016 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Unsecured bank loans (RMB) 4.45% – 4.95% 2016 5,443 5,443 – –
Unsecured bank loans (USD) 2.64% – 2.86% 2016 883 883 18,538 18,538

121,162 121,162 138,429 138,429

Company
Bank loans 5.09% 2016 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000

Secured bank loans of the Group amounting to $113,286,000 (2014: $117,891,000) are secured by legal charges 
over the Group’s leasehold land and buildings with a carrying amount of $2,728,000 (2014: $3,142,000) (see 
note 4) and guarantees issued by certain subsidiaries.

Intra-group financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2015, intra-group financial guarantees comprise corporate guarantees granted by the 
Company to banks in respect of banking facilities amounting to $127,877,000 (2014: $201,500,000) used by 
its subsidiaries. The corporate guarantees are valid as long as the banking facilities are provided to the 
subsidiaries. At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a claim will be made 
against the Company under the guarantees.
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18	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Description of the share-based payment arrangements

At 31 December 2015, the Group has the following share-based payment arrangements:

Share option programme (equity-settled)

The BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001 (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its 
members at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 8 November 2001. In accordance with the programme, 
market price options are exercisable at the average market price of the shares three days preceding the date 
of grant and incentive options are exercisable at a discount not exceeding 20% of the market price at the 
time of grant. The Scheme expired on 7 November 2011.

Terms and conditions of share option programme

The terms and conditions relating to the grants of the share option programme are as tabled below. All 
options are to be settled by physical delivery of shares.

Grant date
Number of 
instruments

Vesting 
conditions

Contractual life 
of options

   
Option grant to employees on 6 March 2009 16,000 1 year’s service 10 years
Option grant to employees on 2 June 2009 200,000 2 years’ service 10 years
Option grant to employees on 3 March 2010 720,000 1 year’s service 10 years
Option grant to employees on 11 May 2010 200,000 1 year’s service 10 years
Option grant to non-executive directors 
  on 4 March 2011 200,000 1 year’s service 5 years
Option grant to employees on 10 May 2011 200,000 1 year’s service 10 years

Total share options 1,536,000

Disclosure of share option programme

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options
2015 2015 2014 2014

$ $
    

Outstanding at 1 January 0.44 1,736,000 0.44 1,896,000
Forfeited during the year 0.45 (200,000) 0.45 (160,000)

Outstanding at 31 December 0.43 1,536,000 0.44 1,736,000

Exercisable at 31 December 0.43 1,536,000 0.44 1,736,000

The options outstanding at 31 December 2015 have an exercise price in the range of $0.07 to $0.565  
(2014: $0.07 to $0.565) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.76 years (2014: 4.27 years).

No options were exercised in 2015 and 2014.
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18	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS (cont’d)

Description of the share-based payment arrangements (cont’d)

Share option programme (equity-settled) (cont’d)

Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values

The grant date fair value of the share-based payment plan was measured based on the Trinomial Option 
Pricing model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. The inputs 
used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payment plan are as follows:

6 March 
2009

2 June 
2009

3 March 
2010

11 May 
2010

4 March 
2011

10 May 
2011

Fair value of share options and 
  assumptions
Fair value at grant date $0.08 $0.25 $0.29 $0.44 $0.19 $0.19
Share price at grant date $0.15 $0.35 $0.86 $1.13 $0.99 $1.01
Exercise price* $0.14 $0.28 $0.90 $1.13 $1.00 $1.02
Expected volatility 
  (weighted average volatility) 113% 126% 54% 57% 31% 29%
Option life 
  (expected weighted average life) 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years
Expected dividends 3% 3% 3% 3% 4% 4%
Risk-free interest rate 
  (based on government bonds) 1.05% 1.35% 1.30% 1.05% 1.14% 1.10%

*	 Not adjusted for one-for-one bonus share issue.

Share Plan

The BIGL Share Plan (the “Plan”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 July 2010. The Plan is administered by the Remuneration 
Committee, comprising four directors, Eu Yee Ming Richard, Lee Chow Soon, Lew Syn Pau and Wong Yi Jia.

The Plan is intended to reward, retain and motivate employees to higher standards of performance and 
encourage greater dedication and loyalty by enabling the Company to give recognition to outstanding 
employees of the Group and/or associated companies.

Awards will be released to participants as fully paid shares upon expiry of the prescribed vesting periods or 
retention periods and subject to conditions prescribed in the Plan.

Employees of the Group and/or associated companies shall be eligible to participate in the Plan subject to 
the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Non-executive directors of the Group and associated 
companies, controlling shareholders and their associates will not be eligible to participate in the Plan.

600,000 share awards were granted conditionally under the Plan during 2015 (2014: 430,000). The actual 
number of shares awarded will depend on the achievement of set targets over a four-year period. This will be 
determined by the Remuneration Committee at the end of the qualifying performance period and released 
to the recipient over a four-year vesting period in the ratio of 0%, 25%, 25% and 50% consecutively.
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18	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS (cont’d)

Description of the share-based payment arrangements (cont’d)

Share Plan (cont’d)

The details of the awards granted under the Plan are as follows:

Date of grant  
of share awards

Share awards 
granted and 

not released at 
1 January 

2015

Share awards 
granted during
 the financial 
year ended 

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
vested during 
the financial
year ended

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
forfeited during 

the financial 
year ended 

31 December 
2015

Share awards 
granted and 

not released at 
31 December 

2015

04 March 2011 288,000 – (288,000) – –
04 April 2012 75,000 – (25,000) – 50,000
04 May 2012 116,250 – (38,750) – 77,500
04 June 2012 213,750 – (71,250) (32,500) 110,000
18 July 2012 22,500 – (7,500) – 15,000
04 April 2013 220,000 – (55,000) – 165,000
04 June 2013 175,000 – (43,750) (41,250) 90,000
04 May 2014 170,000 – – (35,000) 135,000
04 June 2014 220,000 – – (20,000) 200,000
04 April 2015 – 300,000 – (80,000) 220,000
04 May 2015 – 160,000 – – 160,000
04 Jun 2015 – 140,000 – – 140,000

1,500,500 600,000 (529,250) (208,750) 1,362,500

Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values

The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share plan are as follows:

4 March 
2011

4 April 
2012

4 May 
2012

4 June 
2012

18 July 
2012

4 April 
2013

4 June 
2013

4 May 
2014

4 June 
2014

4 April 
2015

4 May 
2015

4 June 
2015

Fair value of share 
  awards and assumptions
Fair value at grant date $0.421 $0.445 $0.415 $0.330 $0.350 $0.330 $0.305 $0.270 $0.275 $0.178 $0.205 $0.225
Share price at grant date $0.493 $0.445 $0.415 $0.330 $0.350 $0.330 $0.305 $0.270 $0.275 $0.178 $0.205 $0.225

The aggregate number of shares available under the Scheme, the Plan and any other applicable share-based 
schemes shall not exceed 15% of the Company’s total issued shares (excluding treasury shares).

The weighted average share price at the date of grant of share awards vested in 2015 was $0.194  
(2014: $0.275).
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18	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS (cont’d)

Employee expenses

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Equity-settled share-based payment:
Share awards 102 53

19	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Trade payables 119,444 136,439 – –
Fees payable to directors of the Company 440 420 440 420
Other payables 15,557 10,709 111 166
Amount due to a subsidiary (non-trade) – – 6,592 4,244
Payables for purchase of property, 
  plant and equipment 1,645 2,684 – –
Accrued expenses 19,416 23,465 417 813

156,502 173,717 7,560 5,643

The amount due to a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables 
is disclosed in note 21.

20	 PROVISION FOR RESTRUCTURING COSTS

$’000
Group
At 1 January 2015 –
Provision made during the year 4,134
Exchange rate effect 107

At 31 December 2015 4,241

During 2015, the Group committed to a plan to restructure the Hard Disk Drive and Precision Engineering 
Solutions business as a result of deteriorated operational circumstances. Following the announcement of 
the plan, the Group recognised a provision of $4,134,000 for expected restructuring costs mainly relating to 
employee termination benefits.
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 credit risk
•	 liquidity risk
•	 market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation 
to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. 
Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the 
results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

The carrying amount of financial assets in the statement of financial position represents the Group’s and the 
Company’s respective maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held. The 
Group and the Company do not hold any collateral in respect of its financial assets.

Guarantees

The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to subsidiaries.

Except for the intra-group financial guarantees given by the Company as set out in note 17, the Group and 
the Company do not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group or the Company to credit risk. 
The maximum exposure of the Company in respect of the intra-group financial guarantee at the end of the 
reporting period is, if the facilities are drawn down by the subsidiaries, in the amount of $127,877,000 (2014: 
$201,500,000).

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default 
risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit 
risk. The Group’s business is highly reliant on a few major customers and their affiliated companies. Sales to 
these customers account for a majority of the Group’s total revenue. Approximately 53% (2014: 55%) of the 
Group’s revenue is attributable to sale transactions with three major customers.
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

The Group has policies in place to ensure sales of products are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history and monitors their balances on an ongoing basis. The Group does not require collateral in respect 
of trade and other receivables.

Exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by type of counterparty 
was:

Group Company
Carrying amount Carrying amount

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Foam plastics 80,852 74,377 – –
Components* 41,324 76,987 – –
Others 101 108 602 1,736

122,277 151,472 602 1,736

*	 Components comprise Hard Disk Drive and Precision Engineering Solutions.

The Group’s three most significant customers, components manufacturers, account for $16,012,000 (2014: 
$41,902,000) of the consolidated trade and other receivables balance (excluding prepayments) at 31 December 
2015.

The ageing of loans and receivables at the reporting date was:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gross     
Not past due 94,459 129,537 265 581
Past due 0 – 30 days 9,043 9,543 – –
Past due 31 – 120 days 10,257 5,109 294 911
More than 120 days past due 11,057 10,178 43 244

124,816 154,367 602 1,736

Impairment losses
Not past due 302 742 – –
Past due 0 – 30 days 22 20 – –
Past due 31 – 120 days 3 18 – –
More than 120 days past due 2,212 2,115 – –

2,539 2,895 – –
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

Impairment losses

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect 
of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that 
relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar 
assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is 
determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, 
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer. If the financial 
conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make 
payments, additional provision may be required.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year 
was as follows:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2,895 690 – –
Impairment loss recognised – 2,551 – –
Impairment loss written off (356) (346) – –

At 31 December 2,539 2,895 – –

The Group and the Company believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due are still collectible, 
based on historic payment behaviour.

Based on the Group’s monitoring of customer credit risk, the Group believes that, apart from the above, no 
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due.

The allowance account in respect of trade and other receivables is used to record impairment losses unless 
the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point, the amounts are 
considered irrecoverable and are written off against the financial asset directly. At 31 December 2015, the 
Group and the Company does not have any collective impairment on its loans and receivables (2014: $Nil).

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $48,163,000 at 31 December 2015 (2014: $35,807,000), which 
represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank 
and financial institution counterparties, which are rated Aa1 to Baa3, based on Moody’s ratings.

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

BROADWAY INDUSTRIAL GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2015
71



21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, 
including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances 
that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group maintains $51,700,000 (2014: $55,700,000) of uncommitted credit facilities 
that can be drawn down to meet short-term financing needs. The Group has contractual commitments to 
purchase property, plant and equipment (see note 29).

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting agreements:

Cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within 
1 year

Between 
1 to 5 years

More than 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
2015      
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Variable interest rate loans 58,427 (63,715) (29,260) (34,455) –
Fixed interest rate loans 63,185 (63,796) (63,796) – –
Trade and other payables 156,502 (156,502) (156,502) – –
Provision for restructuring costs 4,241 (4,241) (4,241) – –

282,355 (288,254) (253,799) (34,455) –

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts:
– Outflow 9,315 (9,315) (9,315) – –
– Inflow (708) 708 708 – –
Interest rate swap used for hedging:
– Outflow 294 (294) (290) (4) –
– Inflow (58) 58 41 17 –

8,843 (8,843) (8,856) 13 –

291,198 (297,097) (262,655) (34,442) –

2014
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Variable interest rate loans 79,850 (88,426) (30,308) (58,118) –
Fixed interest rate loans 58,579 (59,001) (59,001) – –
Trade and other payables 173,717 (173,717) (173,717) – –

312,146 (321,144) (263,026) (58,118) –

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts:
– Outflow 5,529 (5,529) (3,219) (2,310) –
– Inflow (173) 173 173 – –
Interest rate swap used for hedging:
– Outflow 785 (785) (752) (33) –
– Inflow (271) 271 68 203 –

5,870 (5,870) (3,730) (2,140) –

318,016 (327,014) (266,756) (60,258) –
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within 
1 year

Between 
1 to 5 years

More than 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Company
Non-derivative financial liabilities
2015
Fixed interest rate loans 2,000 (2,009) (2,009) – –
Trade and other payables 7,560 (7,560) (7,560) – –

9,560 (9,569) (9,569) – –

2014
Fixed interest rate loans 2,000 (2,005) (2,005) – –
Trade and other payables 5,643 (5,643) (5,643) – –

7,643 (7,648) (7,648) – –

The maturity analyses show the undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities 
on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.

For derivative financial instruments, the cash inflows/(outflows) represent the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows relating to these instruments. The amounts are compiled on a net basis for derivatives that are 
net-settled. Gross inflows and outflows are included for derivatives that are gross-settled on a simultaneous 
basis. Net-settled derivative financial assets are included in the maturity analyses as they are held to manage 
the cash flow variability.

The derivative cash flow hedges are expected to impact profit or loss in the same periods as their expected 
cash inflows/(outflows).

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis of the Group and the Company could 
occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising 
the return.

The Group buys and sells derivatives, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage market risks. All 
such transactions are carried out within the guidelines approved by the Board of Directors.
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies in which these transactions 
primarily are denominated are Singapore dollar, US dollar, Chinese Renminbi and Thai Baht.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to manage its currency risk, with a maximum tenor of 24 months.

Interest on borrowings is denominated in the currency of the borrowing. Generally borrowings are 
denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying operations of the Group, 
primarily US dollar and Chinese Renminbi. This provides an economic hedge without derivatives being entered 
into and therefore hedge accounting is not applied in these circumstances.

Exposure to currency risk

The summary of quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk as provided to the 
management of the Group based on its risk management policy was as follows:

Singapore 
dollar US dollar

Chinese 
Renminbi Thai Baht

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
31 December 2015
Trade and other receivables – 34,787 17,077 3,949
Cash and cash equivalents 384 5,354 9,434 4,506
Loans and borrowings – (10,707) – (21,981)
Trade and other payables (2) (14,763) (32,961) (35,511)

Net statement of financial position exposure 382 14,671 (6,450) (49,037)
Forward exchange contracts – – (8,683) –

Net exposure 382 14,671 (15,133) (49,037)

31 December 2014
Trade and other receivables – 29,256 19,411 33,546
Cash and cash equivalents 432 8,889 4,419 1,618
Loans and borrowings – (21,586) – –
Trade and other payables (2) (11,108) (46,190) (36,045)

Net statement of financial position exposure 430 5,451 (22,360) (881)
Forward exchange contracts – – 69,000 –

Net exposure 430 5,451 46,640 (881)
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

Currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries against the Singapore 
dollar, US dollar, Chinese Renminbi and Thai Baht at 31 December would have increased/(decreased) profit 
before tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances 
that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same 
basis for 2014, as indicated below:

Group
Profit

before tax
$’000

31 December 2015
Singapore dollar (38)
US dollar (1,467)
Chinese Renminbi 1,513
Thai Baht 4,904

31 December 2014
Singapore dollar (43)
US dollar (545)
Chinese Renminbi (4,664)
Thai Baht 88

A 10% weakening of the functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries against the above currencies 
at 31 December would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown 
above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that between 20% and 60% of its exposure to changes in interest rates 
on borrowings is on a fixed-rate basis, taking into account assets with exposure to changes in interest rates. 
This is achieved by entering into interest rate swaps. The company enters into and designates interest rate 
swaps as hedges of the variability in cash flows attributable to interest rate risk.
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Profile

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Group Company
Nominal amount Nominal amount

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 4,251 4,008 5 5
Financial liabilities (63,185) (58,579) (2,000) (2,000)
Interest rate swaps (79,253) (105,626) – –

(138,187) (160,197) (1,995) (1,995)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 43,912 31,799 544 2,321
Financial liabilities (58,427) (79,850) – –
Interest rate swaps 79,253 105,626 – –

64,738 57,575 544 2,321

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instrument

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity 
and profit before tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.

Profit before tax Equity
100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
31 December 2015
Variable rate instruments (145) 145 – –
Interest rate swaps 290 (792) 76 (303)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 145 (647) 76 (303)

31 December 2014
Variable rate instruments (481) 481 – –
Interest rate swaps 492 (420) 866 (78)

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 11 61 866 (78)

Company
31 December 2015
Variable rate instruments 5 (5) – –

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 5 (5) – –

31 December 2014
Variable rate instruments 23 (23) – –

Cash flow sensitivity (net) 23 (23) – –

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

BROADWAY INDUSTRIAL GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2015
77



21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a sound capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, reserves, 
retained earnings and non-controlling interests of the Group. The Board of Directors monitors the average 
return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total average shareholders’ 
equity excluding non-controlling interests. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to 
ordinary shareholders.

The Company has a mandate to issue shares to employees of the Group of up to 15% of the Company’s 
ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares held). At present, employees hold 1.5% of ordinary shares, or just 
under 2.1% assuming that all outstanding share options and share awards vest and/or are exercised.

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels 
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

From time to time, the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these purchases depends 
on market prices. The shares are primarily intended to be used for issuing shares under the Group’s share 
option and share award programme.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Accounting classifications and fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement 
of financial position, are as follows:

Note
Loans and 
receivables

Asset 
held for 

sale
Available 
for-sale

Fair value 
– hedging 

instruments

Other 
financial 
liabilities 
within the 
scope of 
FRS 39

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
31 December 2015
Cash and cash 
  equivalents 14 48,163 – – – – 48,163 48,163
Trade and other 
  receivables 13 122,277 – – – – 122,277 122,277
Financial derivative 
  assets 10 – – – 766 – 766 766
Asset held for sale 15 – 7,460 – – – 7,460 7,777
Available-for-sale 
  equity securities 9 – – 805 – – 805 805

170,440 7,460 805 766 – 179,471 179,788

Financial derivative 
  liabilities 10 – – – (9,609) – (9,609) (9,609)
Bank loans 17 – – – – (121,612) (121,612) (119,690)
Trade and other 
  payables 19 – – – – (156,502) (156,502) (156,502)
Provision for 
  restructuring costs 20 – – – – (4,241) (4,241) (4,241)

– – – (9,609) (282,355) (291,964) (290,042)

31 December 2014
Cash and cash 
  equivalents 14 35,807 – – – – 35,807 35,807
Trade and other 
  receivables 13 151,472 – – – – 151,472 151,472
Financial derivative 
  assets 10 – – – 444 – 444 444
Available-for-sale 
  equity securities 9 – – 910 – – 910 910

187,279 – 910 444 – 188,633 188,633

Financial derivative 
  liabilities 10 – – – (6,314) – (6,314) (6,314)
Bank loans 17 – – – – (138,429) (138,429) (136,651)
Trade and other 
  payables 19 – – – – (173,717) (173,717) (173,717)

– – – (6,314) (312,146) (318,460) (316,682)
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d)

Fair values versus carrying amounts (cont’d)

Note

Loans 
and 

receivables
Asset held 

for sale
Available 
for-sale

Other 
financial 
liabilities 
within the 
scope of 
FRS 39

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Company
31 December 2015
Cash and cash equivalents 14 549 – – – 549 549
Trade and other receivables 13 602 – – – 602 602
Available-for-sale equity 
  securities 9 – – 805 – 805 805

1,151 – 805 – 1,956 1,956

Bank loans 17 – – – (2,000) (2,000) (1,903)
Trade and other payables 19 – – – (7,560) (7,560) (7,560)

– – – (9,560) (9,560) (9,463)

31 December 2014
Cash and cash equivalents 14 2,327 – – – 2,327 2,327
Trade and other receivables 13 1,736 – – – 1,736 1,736
Available-for-sale equity 
  securities 9 – – 805 – 805 805

4,063 – 805 – 4,868 4,868

Bank loans 17 – – – (2,000) (2,000) (1,940)
Trade and other payables 19 – – – (5,643) (5,643) (5,643)

– – – (7,643) (7,643) (7,583)

Interest rates used for determining fair value

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based on the prevailing market 
borrowing rates which are available to the Group at the reporting date, and were as follows:

Group

2015 2014
% %

Bank loans 2.32 – 5.65 2.34 – 6.44
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21	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d)

Interest rates used for determining fair value (cont’d)

Fair value hierarchy

The tables below analyse fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities, by the levels in 
the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation techniques. The different levels are defined as follows:

•	 Level 1	 :	� quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 
can access at the measurement date.

•	 Level 2	 :	� inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

•	 Level 3	 :	 unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
31 December 2015
Available-for-sale unquoted equity securities – 805 – 805
Forward exchange contracts – 749 – 749
Interest rate swap – 17 – 17

Total assets – 1,571 – 1,571

Forward exchange contracts – (9,315) – (9,315)

Total liabilities – (9,315) – (9,315)

31 December 2014
Available-for-sale unquoted equity securities – 910 – 910
Forward exchange contracts – 173 – 173
Interest rate swap – 271 – 271

Total assets – 1,354 – 1,354

Forward exchange contracts – (5,529) – (5,529)
Interest rate swaps – (785) – (785)

Total liabilities – (6,314) – (6,314)

Company
31 December 2015
Available-for-sale unquoted equity securities – 805 – 805

31 December 2014
Available-for-sale unquoted equity securities – 805 – 805

There has been no transfer of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities to/from 
other levels during the year.
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22	 REVENUE

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Sale of goods 650,678 694,528

23	 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Interest income:
– fixed deposits 103 113
– loans to investee companies – 202
– loan to an associate 185 53
– banks 575 400

Finance income 863 768

Interest expense:
– bank loans (5,577) (5,971)
– discounting charges/service fees paid/payable to banks (837) (858)
– others (606) (1,032)

Finance costs (7,020) (7,861)

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (6,157) (7,093)
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24	 LOSS BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before tax:

Group

Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Audit fees paid to:
– auditors of the Company 137 170
– other auditors 460 319
Non-audit fees paid to other auditors 63 –
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 904 (511)
Impairment loss on loan to investee companies – 1,134
Fair value loss on financial derivatives 2,805 5,497
Fair value change in trade receivables 4,295 –
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (1,794) 1,436
Operating lease expense 9,877 12,662
Depreciation expense 4 39,752 40,876
Employee benefits expense (see below) 166,744 159,208
Directors’ fees 440 420
Rental income from investment property leases – (35)
Goodwill impairment 67,292 –
Provision for restructuring costs 20 4,134 –
Gain on disposal of an asset held for sale – (1,939)

Employee benefits expense
Salaries, bonuses and other costs 149,512 144,932
Contributions to defined contribution plans 17,130 14,223
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 102 53

166,744 159,208
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25	 TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Group

Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Current tax credit
Current year 3,250 3,746
Over provision in prior years (4,047) (8,251)

(797) (4,505)
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 11 12,333 1,495

Total tax expense/(credit) 11,536 (3,010)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Loss before tax (75,789) (2,660)

Income tax using Singapore tax rate of 17% (12,884) (452)
Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 319 703
Non-deductible expenses 14,410 8,547
Income not subject to tax (1,408) (2,290)
Income taxed at preferential tax rate outside Singapore (712) (592)
Tax benefits from tax losses not recognised 4,106 –
Recognition of tax effect of previously unrecognised 
  tax losses (487) (840)
Over provision in prior years (4,047) (8,251)
Derecognition of deferred tax assets in prior years 12,329 –
Others (90) 165

11,536 (3,010)

As at 31 December 2015, all subsidiaries in China have utilised their five-years tax concession.

Tax sparing credits are available to a Mauritius subsidiary, Compart Asia Pacific Ltd, whereby the subsidiary 
is entitled to a deemed credit of 80% of the tax on its foreign source income.

A subsidiary in Thailand, Compart Precision (Thailand) Co., Ltd is under tax holiday in accordance with the 
provisions of the Industrial Investment Promotion Act of B.E. 2520 that grants exemption from payment of 
corporate income tax for a period of seven years from the date on which the income is first derived from 
the promoted business. The exemption was subsequently renewed in 2009. The tax holiday expires in 2017.
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25	 TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (cont’d)

Measurement of provision for income taxes

The Group derives a substantial amount of its profit from manufacturing and trading activities across several 
countries before the sale of final products to ultimate customers and is therefore subject to income taxes in 
several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the taxable profit in each of the tax 
jurisdictions during the estimation of the provision for income taxes.

There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. Therefore, the Group recognises tax liabilities based on its assessment of 
whether it is probable, that additional taxes and interests will be due. These tax liabilities are recognised 
when the Group believes that certain positions may not be fully sustained upon review by tax authorities, 
despite the Group’s belief that its tax return positions are supportable.

The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its 
assessment of many factors including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies 
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of multi-faceted judgements about future events. New 
information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy 
of existing tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made.

26	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 was based on the loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of $85,941,000 (2014: profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
$173,000), and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 470,461,000 (2014: 432,655,000), 
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Group

2015 2014
Note No. of shares No. of shares

’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 16 471,914 416,442
Effect of own shares held (1,453) (590)
Effect of rights issue – 16,803

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 470,461 432,655
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26	 EARNINGS PER SHARE (cont’d)

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 was based on loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of $85,941,000 (2014: profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
$173,000), and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 470,461,000 (2014: 434,283,000), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

Group

2015 2014
No. of shares No. of shares

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 470,461 432,655
Effect of share options on issue – 11
Effect of share awards not released – 1,617

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 
  at 31 December 470,461 434,283

27	 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has two strategic business segments, described below, which are the Group’s strategic business 
units. The strategic business units offer different products and are managed independently because they 
require different operational and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Group’s 
CEO reviews internal management reports on a monthly basis with the respective management teams. The 
following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

•	 Foam Plastics Solutions: Manufacture and sale of expandable foam plastics for packaging, insulation 
and other applications.

•	 Components

•	 Hard Disk Drive: Manufacture and distribution of actuator arms and related assembly for the 
Hard disk drive industry.

•	 Precision Engineering Solutions: Manufacture and distribution of precision machined components 
for products used mainly in automotive, customer devices and semi-conductor sectors.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured 
based on segment profit before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the 
Group’s CEO. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information 
is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within 
these industries.
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27	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (cont’d)

Information about reportable segments

Foam Plastics Solutions Components

Hard Disk Drive

Precision 

Engineering Solutions Total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue, 

  representing 

  consolidated 

  revenue 183,010 198,044 357,918 396,169 109,750 100,315 650,678 694,528

Finance income 772 437 114 171 81 45 967 653

Finance costs (759) (1,041) (4,543) (5,304) (1,633) (1,469) (6,935) (7,814)

Depreciation (7,905) (7,307) (23,044) (24,387) (8,746) (9,108) (39,695) (40,802)

Share of profit of 

  associates 1,084 207 – – – – 1,084 207

Reportable segment 

  profit/(loss) 

  before tax 7,692 8,438 (75,846) (7,639) 2,646 4,618 (65,508) 5,417

Other material 

  non-cash items:

Fair value change in 

  trade receivable (3,190) – – – (1,105) – (4,295) –

Provision for 

  restructuring costs – – (2,911) – (1,223) – (4,134) –

Goodwill Impairment – – (67,292) – – – (67,292) –

Reportable segment 

  assets 162,121 161,241 186,174 287,166 93,187 101,257 441,482 549,664

Investment in 

  associates 1,375 112 – – – – 1,375 112

Capital expenditure 6,895 9,394 14,183 7,359 1,279 1,883 22,357 18,636

Reportable segment 

  liabilities 75,095 75,788 164,781 191,671 21,423 24,395 261,299 291,854
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27	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (cont’d)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material items

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Profit or loss
Total (loss)/profit for reportable segments (65,508) 5,417
Unallocated amounts:
– Fair value loss on financial derivatives (2,805) (5,497)
– Other corporate expenses (8,560) (2,787)
Share of profit of associates 1,084 207

Consolidated loss before tax (75,789) (2,660)

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 441,482 549,664
Investment in associates 3,020 1,496
Other unallocated amounts* 13,098 12,628

Consolidated total assets 457,600 563,788

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 261,299 291,854
Other unallocated amounts^ 32,427 33,659

Consolidated total liabilities 293,726 325,513

*	 As at 31 December 2015, the unallocated assets mainly relate to cash and cash equivalents amounting to $11,103,000 
(2014: $10,958,000), financial derivative assets amounting to $766,000 (2014: $444,000) are unallocated to the 
segments.

^	 As at 31 December 2015, the unallocated liabilities mainly relate to financial derivative liabilities amounting to 
$9,609,000 (2014: $6,314,000) and corporate bank loans of $21,790,000 (2014: $20,500,000) that are unallocated to 
the segments.

Reportable 
segment 

totals Adjustments
Consolidated 

totals
$’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Other material items
Finance income 967 (104) 863
Finance costs (6,935) (85) (7,020)
Capital expenditure 22,357 28 22,385
Depreciation (39,695) (57) (39,752)
Fair value loss on financial derivatives – (2,805) (2,805)
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27	 OPERATING SEGMENTS (cont’d)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material items 
(cont’d)

Reportable 
segment 

totals Adjustments
Consolidated 

totals
$’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Other material items
Finance income 653 115 768
Finance costs (7,814) (47) (7,861)
Capital expenditure 18,636 29 18,665
Depreciation (40,802) (74) (40,876)
Impairment loss on loan to investee companies – (1,134) (1,134)
Fair value loss on financial derivatives – (5,497) (5,497)

Geographical information

Singapore is the country of domicile of the Company. The principal activity of the Company is that of an 
investment holding company. Subsidiaries of the Company in the three reportable segments are located in 
People’s Republic of China, Singapore, Thailand and United States of America.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the 
geographical location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue
Non-current 

assets*
$’000 $’000

31 December 2015
People’s Republic of China 379,898 147,246
Singapore 14,561 1,799
Thailand 170,947 28,855
United States of America 45,413 2,802
Other countries 39,859 –

650,678 180,702

31 December 2014
People’s Republic of China 430,576 171,187
Singapore 12,903 64,269
Thailand 158,710 23,661
United States of America 47,075 2,776
Other countries 45,264 –

694,528 261,893

*	 Non-current assets presented consist of property, plant and equipment, associates and club memberships.

Major customers

Revenue from three major customers of the Group represents approximately $343,399,000 (2014: $382,830,000) 
of the Group’s total revenue.
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28	 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about 
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

Property, plant and equipment

The fair values of leasehold land and buildings and property, plant and equipment recognised as a result 
of a business combination are the estimated amounts for which a property could be exchanged on the 
date of valuation and acquisition respectively between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length 
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly.

The fair values of leasehold land and buildings and plant and machinery are based on the market approach 
and cost approaches using quoted market prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when 
appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost estimates reflect adjustments for physical deterioration as well 
as functional and economic obsolescence.

Equity securities

The fair values of investment in equity securities are determined by reference to their quoted closing bid 
price in an active market at the measurement dates or where such information is unavailable, determined 
using a valuation technique. Valuation techniques employed include market multiples and discounted cash 
flow analysis using contractual or expected future cash flows as applicable, a market-related discount rate.

Derivatives

The fair values of interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts (Level 2 fair values) are based on 
price quotations. These quotes are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows 
based on terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument at the 
measurement date. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take into 
account the credit risk of the Group entity and counterparty when appropriate.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
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29	 OPERATING LEASES

Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within one year 7,236 6,327 284 237
Between one and five years 8,956 4,675 – 187
After five years 929 – – –

17,121 11,002 284 424

The Group and Company leases a number of warehouses, factory facilities and offices under operating leases. 
The leases typically run for a period of one to five years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. 
Lease payments are usually increased upon renewal to reflect market rentals.

30	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had entered into contracts to purchase property, plant and equipment 
for $140,000 (2014: $1,235,000).

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had an uncalled capital commitment to subscribe for additional 
investment in a subsidiary amounting to $5,937,000 (2014: $9,514,000).

31	 CONTINGENCIES

Intra-group financial guarantees comprise corporate guarantees granted by the Company to banks in respect 
of banking facilities amounting to $127,877,000 (2014: $201,500,000) provided to its subsidiaries. The financial 
guarantees will expire when the loans have been paid and discharged and/or when the banking facilities are 
no longer available to the subsidiaries. These financial guarantee contracts are accounted for as insurance 
contracts.

The principal risk to which the Company is exposed is the credit risk in connection with the guarantee contract 
it has issued. The credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised upon a default by the subsidiary 
to which the guarantee was given for the benefit of.

There are no terms and conditions attached to the guarantee contract that would have a material effect on 
the amount, timing and uncertainty of the Company’s future cash flows.

Estimates of the Company’s obligation arising from the financial guarantee contracts may be affected by 
future events, which cannot be predicted with certainty. The assumptions made may well vary from actual 
experience so that the actual liability may vary considerably from the best estimates. As of reporting date, 
there is no provision made in respect of the obligation.
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32	 RELATED PARTIES

Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel of the Company and the Group are those persons having the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The directors of the Company 
and the Group are considered as key management personnel of the Company and the Group.

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

  
Short-term employee benefits 2,480 3,357
Post-employment benefits (including CPF) 22 43
Share-based payments 26 24

2,528 3,424

Included in the above, total compensation to directors of the Company amounted to $1,468,000  
(2014: $1,508,000).

Directors also participate in the Broadway Industrial Group Limited Share Option Scheme 2001 and the BIGL 
Share Plan. 100,000 (2014: 25,000) share awards were granted to the directors of the Company during the 
year. The share awards that were granted in 2015 were on the terms and conditions as described in note 18. 
At the reporting date, 1,100,000 (2014: 700,000) of those share options and 291,250 (2014: 225,000) of those 
share awards were outstanding.

Other related party transactions

Group

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Sales of goods to associates 8,282 6,995

33	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the reporting date, one of the subsidiaries, Compart Asia Pacific Ltd entered into a long-term 
lease from March 2016 to July 2033 with a customer from the Components division to recover the outstanding 
debt of $5,219,000 owed by the customer.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 18 MARCH 2016

Number of Equity Securities : 470,469,461
Class of Equity Securities : Ordinary shares
Voting Rights : One vote per share
Number of Treasury Shares : 1,445,150

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of shareholdings
No. of  

shareholders % No. of shares %
1 – 99 12 0.53 137 0.00
100 – 1,000 21 0.94 16,316 0.00
1,001 – 10,000 858 38.27 4,697,976 1.00
10,001 – 1,000,000 1,320 58.87 87,669,801 18.64
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 31 1.39 378,085,231 80.36

TOTAL 2,242 100.00 470,469,461 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (AS RECORDED IN THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS)  
AS AT 18 MARCH 2016

Name of Substantial Shareholder
Direct 

Interest %(1)

Deemed 
Interest %(1)

Total
Interest %(1)

Lau Leok Yee(2) 79,851,142 16.97 90,317,468 19.19 170,168,610 36.16
Lew Syn Pau – – 44,572,639 9.47 44,572,639 9.47
Delta Lloyd Asset Management NV(3) – – 37,610,000 7.99 37,610,000 7.99

Notes:

(1)	 Percentage is calculated based on total issued shares of the Company less treasury shares (i.e. 470,469,461).

(2)	 Madam Lau Leok Yee is the widow of the late Mr Wong Sheung Sze and is the beneficial owner of the 90,317,468 ordinary 
shares held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.

(3)	 Delta Lloyd Asset Management NV is deemed to be interested in the 37,610,000 ordinary shares held by Delta Lloyd Azie 
Deelnemingen Fonds N.V. (custodian being KAS Bank K.V.) and Delta Lloyd L Asian Participation Fund (custodian being 
Banque de Luxembourg S.A.).
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 18 MARCH 2016

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %
1 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 97,566,396 20.74
2 LAU LEOK YEE 79,851,142 16.97
3 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 57,223,696 12.16
4 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 30,343,576 6.45
5 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 22,106,551 4.70
6 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 15,892,341 3.38
7 LAM SENG HANG LTD 15,600,000 3.32
8 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 8,624,195 1.83
9 CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 8,081,662 1.72
10 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 5,715,226 1.21
11 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 4,906,299 1.04
12 LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 3,541,433 0.75
13 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 2,983,091 0.63
14 BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE. LTD. 2,328,233 0.49
15 MAYBANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PRIVATE LIMITED 2,079,000 0.44
16 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 2,037,666 0.43
17 LEE PO LO @ LEE KHONG KEE 1,896,962 0.40
18 MIAO ROCKY SHAO-YAN 1,588,712 0.34
19 ANG BAN SIONG 1,406,000 0.30
20 DBSN SERVICES PTE. LTD. 1,400,900 0.30

TOTAL 365,173,081 77.60

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING

Based on the information available to the Company as at 18 March 2016, approximately 45.2% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company is held by the public and, therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the SGX-ST 
is complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Broadway Industrial Group Limited (the “Company”) 
will be held at Seminar Room 6-7, Level 5, Symbiosis Tower, 3 Fusionopolis Way, Singapore 138633 on on Saturday, 
30 April 2016 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2015 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.	 (Resolution 1)

2.	 To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to the Company’s Constitution:

Mr Eu Yee Ming Richard	 [Retiring under Article 109]	 (Resolution 2)
Mr Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee	 [Retiring under Article 109]	 (Resolution 3)
Mr Lee Chow Soon	 [Retiring under Article 112]	 (Resolution 4)

Mr Eu will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees and a member of the Audit Committee and will be considered independent.

Mr Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of 
the Audit Committee, and will be considered non-independent.

Mr Lee Chow Soon, who was previously re-appointed to hold office until this Annual General Meeting pursuant 
to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act (Cap. 50), which was in force immediately before 3 January 2016, will, 
upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees and will be considered independent.

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$412,917 for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 
S$462,500).	 (Resolution 5)

4.	 To re-appoint Messrs KPMG LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the Company 
to fix their remuneration.	 (Resolution 6)

5.	 To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any 
modifications:

6.	 Authority to issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Act, and the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”), approval be and is hereby given to the Directors, to:

(a)	 (i)	 issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or 
otherwise;

	 (ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require Shares to be issued 
or other transferable rights to subscribe for or purchase Shares (collectively, “Instruments”) 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants, debentures or other instruments 
convertible into Shares; and
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	 (iii)	 issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number of Instruments 
previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues,

at any time to such persons and upon such terms and for such purposes as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b)	 (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares 
in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while the authority was in force,

provided always that the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the 
Company’s total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares, of which the aggregate number of Shares 
(including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to 
be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed twenty per centum 
(20%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, and for the purpose 
of this Resolution, the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares shall be the Company’s total 
number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i)	 new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities,

(ii)	 new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting 
at the time this Resolution is passed, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with 
Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, and

(iii)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s Shares, and

such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, continue in force until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (i)]	 (Resolution 7)

7.	 Authority to issue shares under the BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Act, the Directors be authorised and empowered to issue from time to 
time such number of fully-paid Shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options 
granted by the Company under the BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001 (the “Scheme”) before the expiry of the 
Scheme on 7 November 2011, provided always that the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant 
to the Scheme, the BIGL Share Plan and any other applicable share based schemes which the Company may 
have in place, shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total number of Shares, excluding treasury 
shares, from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general 
meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the 
date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever 
is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (ii)]	 (Resolution 8)
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8.	 Authority to issue shares under the BIGL Share Plan

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Act, the Directors be authorised and empowered to offer and grant awards 
under the BIGL Share Plan (the “Plan”) and to issue from time to time such number of fully-paid Shares as 
may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of the awards under the Plan, provided always that the 
aggregate number of new Shares to be issued pursuant to the Plan, the BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001 and 
any other applicable share based schemes which the Company may have in place, shall not exceed fifteen 
per centum (15%) of the total number of Shares, excluding treasury shares, from time to time and that such 
authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note (iii)]	 (Resolution 9)

By Order of the Board

Lynn Wan Tiew Leng
Lin Yu Xuan Terence
Secretaries

Singapore

15 April 2016
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Explanatory Notes:

(i)	 The Ordinary Resolution 7 above, if passed, will authorise and empower the Directors from the date of 
the above Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to issue Shares and convertible 
securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate fifty per centum (50%) of the total 
number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares of the Company of which the total number of Shares and 
convertible securities issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed twenty 
per centum (20%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares of the Company at the time 
the resolution is passed, for such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. Rule 
806(3) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST currently provides that the total number of issued shares excluding 
treasury shares of the Company for this purpose shall be the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury 
shares at the time this Resolution is passed (after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or 
exercise of convertible securities or share options in issue at the time this Resolution is passed and any 
subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s shares). This authority will, unless 
revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(ii)	 The Ordinary Resolution 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the 
above Annual General Meeting until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or 
the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such 
authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is earlier, to issue Shares 
pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the Scheme, provided always that the aggregate number 
of new Shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme, the BIGL Share Plan and any other applicable share 
based schemes, shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total number of issued Shares, excluding 
treasury shares, from time to time. Although the Scheme had expired on 7 November 2011, options previously 
granted will remain valid until the expiry, cancellation or exercise of the options.

(iii)	 The Ordinary Resolution 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of 
the above Annual General Meeting until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting, or the date 
by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority 
is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is earlier, to offer and grant awards 
under the Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and to issue from time to time such number of 
Shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of the awards under the Plan subject to the 
maximum number of shares prescribed under the terms and conditions of the Plan, provided always that the 
aggregate number of new Shares to be issued pursuant to the BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001, the Plan and 
any other applicable share based schemes, shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total number of 
issued Shares, excluding treasury shares, from time to time. Resolution 9 is independent from Resolution 8 
and the passing of Resolution 9 is not contingent on the passing of Resolution 8.

Notes:

1.	 (a)	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary, is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote at the 
Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”).

	 (b)	 A member who is a relevant intermediary, is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote at the 
Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or Shares held by 
such member.

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

2.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 50 Raffles 
Place #32-01 Singapore Land Tower Singapore 048623 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for 
holding the Meeting.
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Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting and/or 
any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal 
data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of 
proxies and representatives appointed for the Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation 
of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order 
for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the 
“Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) 
to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for 
the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, 
losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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(PLEASE SEE NOTES OVERLEAF BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM)

PROXY FORM
IMPORTANT:

1.	 A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to attend the Annual 
General Meeting and vote (please see note 4 for the definition of “relevant 
intermediary”). 

2.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Broadway Industrial Group 
Limited’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

3.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

4.	 CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit their 
requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified. If 
they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF Approved 
Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.

I/We,  (name of shareholder)

of  (address of shareholder)

being a member/members of Broadway Industrial Group Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/
proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be 
held at Seminar Room 6-7, Level 5, Symbiosis Tower, 3 Fusionopolis Way, Singapore 138633 on Saturday, 30 April 2016 
at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions 
proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any 
other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting 
at his/her discretion.

No. Resolutions relating to: For** Against**

1 Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2015

2 Re-election of Mr Eu Yee Ming Richard as a Director

3 Re-election of Mr Lee Po Lo @ Lee Khong Kee as a Director

4 Re-election of Mr Lee Chow Soon as a Director

5 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$412,917

6 Re-appointment of Messrs KPMG LLP as Auditors

7 Authority to issue new shares

8 Authority to issue shares under the BIGL Share Option Scheme 2001

9 Authority to issue shares under the BIGL Share Plan

*	 Delete where inapplicable

**	 If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please tick [√] within the relevant box provided. 
Alternatively, if you wish to exercise all your votes for both “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please indicate the number 
of votes as appropriate in the boxes provided.

Dated this  day of April 2016 Total number of 
Shares Held

No. of Shares

(a)	 CDP Register

(b)	 Register of 
Members

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s)
or Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

(Company Registration No.: 199405266K)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)



Notes:

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 298), you should insert that number of 
Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If 
you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register 
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two 
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/
her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4.	 A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint more than two 
proxies to attend and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 
different Share or Shares held by such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the appointments 
shall be invalid unless the member specifies the number of Shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed.

“Relevant intermediary” means:

(a)	 a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking 
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

(b)	 a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities 
and Futures Act (Cap. 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c)	 the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares 
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the 
contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds 
those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

5.	 Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at 
the Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in 
person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the 
instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 50 Raffles 
Place #32-01 Singapore Land Tower Singapore 048623 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

7.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either 
under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy 
thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

8.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it 
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 
Singapore.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal 
data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 15 April 2016.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company 
may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified 
by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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